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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Introduction
The past year has been a year of frustration for both our company and our country. In my
report of last year I referred to the sense of optimism in South Africa surrounding the
change of presidency. There were hopes of major political and economic moves being
made leading the country to a path of increased economic activity and dramatic structural economic measures being taken to increase employment levels, especially for the
youth of the country. Regrettably these anticipated political and economic changes have
not yet materialized and the full extent of all the corruption and mismanagement of the
economy that has occurred over the past decade has been made public.
We find ourselves in a position where our government leadership is severely hampered
in its ability to take the required measures to clean up the state by the existence of
political factions within the ruling party that precludes the expulsion of all of those
associated with the looting of state assets over the past decade. The degradation of
our prosecuting organisations and the endemic corruption within our law enforcement
entities makes it almost impossible to bring the multitude of corrupt officials that have
been identified in the many commissions of enquiry, to book.
The unenviable task of planning and executing the resurrection of the economy falls
squarely on the shoulders of the country’s political leadership. Dramatic measures
are necessary. The political will to take the required harsh decisions going forward
necessitates strong leadership and much will depend on which faction of the prevailing
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governing party prevails. Should the existing leadership faction fail to prevail, the
country may well be headed towards the “Failed State” category of countries
sentencing our population to conditions of abject poverty, starvation and violence.
With existing very high levels of unemployment, the country’s absolute imperative is
to create employment. Arguably the most fundamental human right that there is in an
interdependent social society is the opportunity to earn a living – either from employment or by way of an opportunity to start a business and be self-employed. Earning
a living provides the individual with a basic element of self-respect and an ability to
choose how to allocate their earnings - be it food, clothing, housing, medical care,
transport, entertainment, education, etc. Charity in the form of grants should be limited
to those that are unable to work and to the young and elderly. In South Africa where
we have official overall unemployment levels approaching 30% and the youth population unemployment levels around 60%, we are failing our people – particularly the poor.
Current and projected GDP growth rates consistently fall below the rate of population
growth meaning that the unemployment situation will worsen rather than improve unless
some dramatic changes in policy take place.
What the country needs is for everyone to pull together and to come up with inventive
solutions to our existing funding issues. Consideration should be given to a once-off
wealth and capital tax. Although this would set a dangerous precedent, it would allow
the sector of the population best positioned to contribute and with the most invested in
the future of the country, to do so for the overall stability of the country without having a
dramatic impact on consumption.
Once the funding issues facing the economy are resolved and sound management and
governance are returned to our public sector operations, there is a need to revolutionise
the way in which we structure the economy. For a developing country, our economy is
grossly over-regulated rendering us uncompetitive, making it almost impossible for us to
move onto the path of sustained high growth that is so essential. Many of our laws and
regulations are based on developed economy examples which are not only extremely
costly and cumbersome to navigate but also provide a feeding trough for corruption.

6
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Where businesses such as ours face licensing processes that can take months and years
rather than days or weeks, there will always be opportunities for grease to be introduced
to facilitate the exercise. To cope with the ever-increasing volume of bureaucratic regulations, our civil service numbers have swollen at an alarming rate which, in itself, contributes to the nightmare of bureaucracy that businesses face just to exist. There is a need for
a massive de-regulation exercise to be carried out over the whole economy. This should
start at the top with opportunities for the amalgamation of a number of existing government departments and a quantum decrease in the number of ministers, going right down
to ruthless cuts in public sector numbers. These losses in public sector jobs will quickly be
countered by an inevitable increase in private sector employment numbers that would
accompany a simpler and more efficient regulatory framework.
Labour laws should provide the most basic of conditions such as standard working
hours, a realistic minimum wage and basic standards of health and safety for workers.
An ability to hire and fire without having to face the consequences of time consuming
and expensive redress to the labour authorities and courts would encourage employers
to take on staff much more readily and would obviate the need for the existence of
labour brokers.
While the aims of our BEE regulations are commendable, existing regulations are not
only cumbersome but also act as a direct disincentive to many who would otherwise wish
to invest in the economy and create much needed employment. The regulations are
expensive to comply with and ultimately serve to reduce the competitive capabilities of
those previously advantaged individuals rather than empowering the previously disadvantaged people. Surely the aim should be to make the most of the skills and capacities
of the previously advantaged members of society for the overall benefit of the economy
and to utilize state resources to go some way to compensating the previously disadvantaged individuals for their lack of resources. This may be done by greatly enhancing our
education facilities for the poorer communities including providing free or assisted education for those unable to afford education, as well as setting up funding for previously
disadvantaged persons that seek to take up identified business opportunities.

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

7

Overview of operations
The past year has been one of great frustration for the company. In our CEO’s report
of last year he noted that we were proposing to raise additional capital by way of a
rights issue in order to supplement the funding of our new plastic recycling plant as
well as the construction of two additional tyre recycling plants. Unfortunately this rights
issue failed for a number of reasons. One of our principal shareholders, Insure Group
Managers Ltd (“Insure”), was placed in curatorship and was thus not in a position to
follow it’s rights. In seeking alternative partners to take up Insure’s rights, it became
clear that potential investors wished to invest in the renewable energy part of the business but found the asset financing business, LFS Assets (Pty) Ltd (“LFS”), less attractive,
particularly as this asset represented the largest part of the total Global investment.
The Global strategy was thus reviewed and it was resolved that the asset finance business should be separated from the renewable energy business and that an investor
should be found to take over LFS which would release funds for the business required
to take the renewable energy business forward. Global’s other major investor, African
Rainbow Capital Ltd (“ARC”) agreed to take up a further R50 million of equity which,
together with the funds realized from the LFS divestment should be sufficient to fund
the immediate requirements for the construction of the plastic recycling plant as well
as for the ongoing operations of the Group. Following this it was agreed that there was
no longer a justification to incur all of the expenses related to the listing of the Group
on the JSE and it was resolved to de-list. These transactions are in process at this time
and total capital to be raised will amount to R117,2 million (R50 million from the ARC
share subscription and R67,2 million from LFS).
These delays in securing the funding necessary for the construction of the plastic recycling plant and upscaling of our rubber recycling and carbon business has had a serious
impact on the Group’s operations. Construction of the plastic recycling plant had to
be suspended and the rubber recycling and carbon business has had to operate on a
limited and sub-economic basis using it’s existing 2 small plants.

8
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With the imminent introduction of the additional funds, construction of the plastic recycling plant will recommence and we are confident that the technology will prove to
be world leading in the processing of plastic waste. We are at the same time working at
further developing and establishing our rubber recycling and carbon business.
The Group’s divestment in LFS comes at a time when LFS has had to regroup and revise
it’s business model following the unfortunate termination of our partnership with Linde
Materials Handling which was discussed in my report of last year. Notwithstanding that
the divestment of this business has not come at an ideal time, the investment in this
business has served it’s purpose admirably. Our original strategy at the time of Global’s initial listing was to have LFS support the Group during the development of the
renewable energy businesses. It has effectively done this over the years and it’s final
divestment will allow the Global renewable energy business to reach a stage where it
will be able to construct it’s first major plant and thereafter generate income required
to support it’s future operations.

Future outlook
This will be my last report as Chairman of the Global listed Group and when I look at
where the Group stands I am confident that it will move forward to a successful future.
The Group has an outstanding major shareholder in ARC who has supported it through
the difficult times experienced over the past year. The Group’s management is well established, is very well qualified to develop the business and will have gained invaluable
experience from the trials of the past couple of years. Management has worked hard at
developing the rubber recycling business which is well positioned to play a significant
role in the processing of used tyres in South Africa and elsewhere.
An exciting part of the business that has yet to get off the ground is the concentrated solar power operation. A lack of funds has made it difficult to secure an initial project where
our technology and expertise in the business can be properly illustrated. However, over
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the past few years detailed work has been completed on the development of the technology together with an assessment of it’s possible applications. We are expecting to
enter into a few smaller contracts during the coming year that will not only demonstrate
our expertise but should also prove to be profitable. With world energy requirements expected to escalate in the future and renewable solutions rapidly augmenting and taking
over from fossil fuel based facilities, we are very optimistic that this side of our business
will develop and grow substantially both in South Africa and elsewhere.
We have at last managed to fully fund the construction of our major project - the plastic
recycling plant. This should be completed and operational early in our 2020 financial
year and we are confident that our technology will enable us to become a leader in this
field. We are certainly looking forward to seeing this business expand rapidly both here
and elsewhere in the world.

Closing
We have spent the past years facing the many challenges that come with a start-up
business. Having funded the establishment of our major businesses, we are now in the
exciting position of being able to bring these businesses into commercial operation
and to start generating income. We have an outstanding but small, focused and committed compliment of staff with strong technical and management skills. The future
looks bright and full of promise.
Finally, I would like to thank my colleagues on the Board for their support and wise
counsel as they have helped guide the business over challenging times.

GK Cunliffe
Chairman
12 March 2019
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EXECUTIVE REPORT

Strategic Direction
Global Asset Management Ltd (“Global” or “the Company”) has gone through an
extremely difficult year, ending 30 November 2018. Due to the uncertain political and
economic environment taking hold of South Africa, securing funding for the establishment of its renewable energy businesses became increasingly difficult and delays
forced the company to temporarily halt the construction of its plastic recycling plant
in Nigel. Furthermore, the move of the rubber recycling plants from Springs to Nigel,
resulted in a disruption of production and loss of income.
In line with its long term objectives, the Company decided to narrow its strategic focus and the Board and major shareholders supported the decision to sell operations
not related to the renewable energy and waste to energy fields. Accordingly investors
were sought for the asset finance business LFS Assets (Pty) Ltd (“LFS”), and a deal was
signed post the financial yearend, securing a large portion of the outstanding funding
amount for the development and construction of the waste to energy businesses.
Funding support was also obtained from African Rainbow Capital Ltd (“ARC”), one of
Global’s major shareholders, in the form of a share subscription amounting to R50 million.
Global has accordinly secured sufficient equity funding to complete the construction of
module one of the plastic recycling plant and to upgrade parts of the rubber recycling
and carbon plants, with the aim of improving production and cash flow.
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Heliosek (Pty) Ltd (“Heliosek”) represents the only other remaining renewable energy
business in the Global Group, which focusses on the development of concentrated
solar power technology. The technology has been developed internally and will be
rolled out on a commercial basis as soon as the required funding has been sourced.

Important milestones achieved during 2018
i.

Global purchased an industrial property in Nigel and obtained all of the required
licenses to operate its recycling businesses on the site. The rubber recycling plant
was relocated from Springs and successfully recommissioned in Nigel.

ii.

A full contingent of foremen, operators and plant workers was employed and
trained to operate the rubber recycling reactors on a 24/7 batch process basis.
Whereas the optimal cycle times have not been achieved to date, mainly due
to burner failures and other equipment related unplanned stoppages, continued
improvements have been achieved and Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd (“EPT”) is poised to
become cash flow positive during the 2019 financial year. Global currently employs
approximately 60 people, of which the largest contingent works on the Nigel site.

iii. A supply contract was concluded for waste mining tyres with Exxaro, and the recycling of these tyres will commence during the second quarter of 2019.
iv. The development of the carbon product has been a key focal point for the EPT
team. Pyrolysis carbon has been successfully milled to a 5 micron particle size and
various interested parties are currently testing the recycled carbon black product
in their commercial applications, mainly in rubber and plastic production.
v.

Plastics Green Energy (Pty) Ltd (“PGE”) was funded initially with R47 million equity
and embarked on the construction of module one of its plastic recycling facility
in Nigel. All earthworks and civil works were completed during the 2018 financial
year, as well as most of the detailed engineering works. Long lead time equip-
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ment was ordered and with the injection of the remaining required funding, the
construction of the recycling plant is scheduled for completion during the 2019
financial year, with commissioning to follow early in 2020.

Key Objectives for 2019
i.

In line with its strategic objective, the Company will complete the divestment of its
non-core assets and has also started the process of delisting from the JSE Alternative Exchange. This will serve to cut costs and focus the attention of management
exclusively on its renewable energy businesses.

ii.

EPT will further develop its carbon product to ensure commercial sales at attractive
prices to the rubber and plastic industries. This will allow the business to expand
into the recycling of additional mining tyres by adding purpose designed recycling
reactors, thereby enhancing the long term profitability of the business.

iii. The plastic recycling plant is to be constructed during the 2019 financial year and
commissioning is scheduled to commence early in 2020. The plastic recycling business is projected to produce attractive cash flows from inception and has the potential to grow rapidly, also on an international basis.
iv. Heliosek will focus on selling gas micro turbines to industrial and hotel customers
during the 2019 financial year. Various projects are currently being looked at, and
with the Eskom crises looming large in the back ground, attractive opportunities
exist for providing electricity from alternative sources.
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Outlook
2019 will be a very important year for Global. Not only will the Company be delisted, but
all 3 of its renewable energy businesses are primed to make great strides and become
fully operational during 2019, or shortly thereafter. The Company has built a strong management and operational team, and together with its proprietary technology advantage
and continued backing from its shareholders, should be in a strong position to ensure
that positive cash flows are generated and substantial growth is achieved.

Crude Oil Brent
Latest Price and chart for crude oil brent
End of day commudity Futures price Quotes for Crude oil Brent

Source: Nasdaq
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Commodity markets will most likely provide strong tailwinds to the businesses in the
near future. Oil prices have stabilized around the $60-$70 bbl band and with Opec cuts
being implemented and maintained, should be well supported. Whereas the economic
weakness prevailing in local markets will temper demand for fuel oil and carbon, a
weaker rand will provide higher prices for locally produced goods. The graph below
depicts rising paraffin prices as a result of the factors mentioned above, which should
further support prices in the fuel oil markets.

USD/ZAR Currency Rate

Source: xe

Source: Department of Energy
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The biggest driver however for the Global businesses will be the continued move towards sustainable and environmentally friendly production and consumption, which
has taken hold globally. All industries, especially the plastic and rubber industries, will
be required to use recycled materials in their production processes and Global is well
positioned to provide solutions in this regard.
The strategic focus for Global’s renewable energy businesses remain the following:
-

Converting inexpensive and abundant resources or waste, into

-

Valuable renewable energy and other products, by

-

Employing proprietary technology towards sustainable solutions.

N Penzhorn
Chief Executive Officer
12 March 2019
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RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT

The Group’s business risk and tolerance for risk continues to be managed in line with
Board approved authorities and regulatory frameworks. The risk profile for the Company
has increased to that of a medium to high overall risk environment given its business
model of developing new businesses in the renewable energy sector and associated customer and stakeholder requirements. The majority of risks identified for the Group are:

Risk type

Approach

Strategic risk

Strategic risk concerns the consequences that occur when
the environment in which decisions that are hard to implement quickly result in an unattractive or adverse impact.
It ultimately has two elements: one is doing the right thing at
the right time and the other is doing it well.
This risk arises out of changes in the broad environment in
which the Group operates.
•

Strategic risk is a function of the compatibility between
the Group’s goals, the approach and resources used
to meet those goals, and the quality of management’s
implementation of systems and resources to meet those
goals.

•

Formal strategic risk assessments are completed annually
and monitored throughout the year by the Board and
executive management of the Group.

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

17

Risk type

Approach

Strategic risk
(continued)

•

The strategic risk management is integrated into the
strategic planning process of the Group.

•

Strategic risk focuses on how the plans and the implementation of those plans affect the Group’s value rather
than just an analysis of a written strategic plan.

•

Financial risk

18

Assessment of strategic risk also incorporates how well
management handles uncontrollable external factors
such as changes of a political, socio-economic, legislative
nature, new competition or opportune acquisitions.

Financial risk is an umbrella term for any risk associated
with any form of financing. Specialised financial risk management systems and procedures are in place to manage
financial risks.
•

Capital risk to the Group is the risk of not maintaining
the minimum capital levels stipulated by the monitoring
regulators and key suppliers.

•

Market risk considers changes in the prices of the
Group’s products and funding rates due to changes
in market factors such as interest rates, equity prices,
commodity prices and market liquidity. Market risk occurs
from the Group’s involvement in activities where these
market factors are present.

•

Credit risk is the potential that an obligor will fail to
pay or fail to meet the terms of their contract with the
Group. Credit risk could result from failure on the part of
a borrower, counterparty or an issuer. Credit risk exists in
both on- and off-balance sheet exposures.

•

Liquidity risk can arise from management’s failure to
recognise changing market conditions that negatively
affect an ability to liquidate assets quickly. It may also
include an inability to manage unplanned changes in
funding sources and the failure of securing sufficient
funding sources for new endeavours.
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Risk type

Approach

Operational risk

Operational risk means the risk of loss resulting from people,
inadequate or failed internal processes, systems or from external events, including legal risk such as exposure to fines,
penalties, or punitive damages resulting from supervisory actions and private settlements.
People:
• Transformation, recruitment and retention, employee
relations.
Process:
• Data integrity, internal controls, disaster recovery plan
(“DRP”) and business continuity management (“BCM”).
Technology:
• Information and data security, system operability, system
support, maintenance and enhancements.
•

Processing technology failing to deliver according to
designed efficiencies and operating schedules.

Compliance:
• Risk ratings and reports guide the level of attention
required from the key individuals and representatives,
executives and management.
Social and
environmental risks

Social risks include cultural aspects, health consciousness,
age distribution, career attitudes and attitude to safety.
Environmental risks include compliance with environmental
regulations and licenses.

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

19

Risk management review process application
The review structures in place to direct these risks are the Global Board and subsidiary
Directors, designated Committees (Social and Ethics, Audit and Risk), executive
management, the compliance officer, key individuals, representatives and the Company
secretary.
The objective of these structures is to prevent, detect and control significant risk factors
facing the Group, secure reliable financial information and ensure the reliability and
integrity of operating procedures. It also encourages compliance with regulations and
fiduciary responsibilities within its designated risk mandates applied in line with its
mandated terms, levels of authority and associated conditions to:
•

create and maintain a sustainable and profitable business model;

•

support stakeholder expectations with a consistent return on capital;

•

demonstrate a responsible approach;

•

remain strategically focused on core activities to expand the Group’s market
reputation; and

•

meet regulatory requirements.

Regulatory environment
The Global Group is regulated by various regulatory bodies as defined hereunder:

20

•

National Credit Regulator (“NCR”);

•

the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”); and

•

various other governmental departments and institutions.
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Specific areas identified by the Board for further comment were:
Business continuity management (“BCM”)
The Group continually reassesses its business continuity capabilities in order to be
adequately prepared to deal with any crisis. In particular, BCM prescribes how, where,
when, and who will be responsible and what they will do when an abnormal situation
occurs, in order to ensure that the business can continue with as little as possible disruption and/or any reputational damage.

Social responsibility management (“SRM”)
The Group is committed to retaining its employees by maintaining a safe and healthy
working environment and by creating awareness around responsible social practices.
Global will continue to support charitable organisations.
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COMPLIANCE REPORT

Board governance and management compliance
The Board is satisfied that the necessary internal controls relating to the management,
financial and regulatory reporting are operating effectively and no indications of a material breakdown of the associated controls, procedures and systems during the period
of review came to its attention. The minimum required Board and Committee meetings
were held for 2018 and matters of relevance considered and debated.

National Credit Act (“NCA”) compliance
One of the Group’s subsidiaries, LFS Assets (Pty) Ltd, has registered as an authorised
credit provider and is compliant with all the necessary procedures and processes to
continue to meet the requirements of the NCA. Financing activities remain focused
around commercial and corporate business, rather than consumer business, which are
subject to the NCA.

Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment (“BBBEE”) compliance
Global’s official scorecard shows a level 8. The Company has filed its compliance report in accordance with section 13G (2) of the Act annually to the B-BBEE Commission
on the prescribed Form B-BBEE1 and has last published this report on its website on
30 March 2018. An updated report will be published in April 2019.
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Subsequent to the year ended 30 November 2018, the ownership element improved
by having UBI General Partner (Pty) Ltd on behalf of the ARC Fund, an en commandite
partnership, associated with African Rainbow Capital Ltd increased its effective shareholding in the Company from 26.3% to 45.3%. The Group also revised the shareholding
structures of certain of the Group subsidiaries, which proves Global’s commitment to
BBBEE. The Board composition includes three B-BBEE Directors to three, namely Mr GT
Magomola, Mr AJ Naidoo and Ms NB Matyolo.
The Board’s attention and focus remain on satisfying the operational targets of the
charter. Global constantly reviews opportunities to improve the managerial, procurement, as well as enterprise development aspects for 2018 through to 2019.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Regulatory Environment
The Board is committed to the adherence and application of the highest levels of corporate governance in its Small Medium Enterprise (“SME”) environment and accepts
responsibility to provide a high standard of corporate governance. It is the Directors’
responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly represent the state of affairs
of the Group as explained in the “Directors’ Responsibility and Approval” statement in
this Annual Report. The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing
and reporting on the financial statements.

Application of King IV Principles FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2018
Global Asset Management Limited (“Global” or “the Company” or “the Group”) endorses the governance outcomes, principles and recommended practices contained in
the King Report on Corporate Governance 2016 (“King IV” or “King Code”), which was
published on 1 November 2016 and came into effect for companies listed on the JSE
Limited (“JSE”) on 1 October 2017.
The Board of Directors, which constitutes the governing body of the Company (“Board”),
satisfied itself that Global has substantially applied the applicable principles set out in
King IV, together with the mandatory corporate governance requirements set out in 3.84
of the Listings Requirements of the JSE, for the year ended 30 November 2018.
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King IV advocates an outcomes-based approach towards the achievement of four governance outcomes. A summary of the King IV principles implemented by the Company
in meeting those outcomes is set out below. While recommended practices were
applied where and to the extent applicable to the business, further enhancements will
be made over time in line with the Company’s aspirations to continuously improve its
corporate governance practices.
In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE, companies listed on the Alternative
Exchange Board (“AltX”) are only required to report on the extent of their application
of the principles set out in Part 3 (Governing Structures and Delegation) of the King
Code. However, the Company has elected to continue with full disclosure in accordance with King IV.
This document should be read in conjunction with the 2018 Integrated Report
(as cross-referenced below), which is available on the Company’s website at
https://www.global-ltd.co.za.

26
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME: ETHICAL CULTURE
PART 1: Leadership, ethics and corporate citizenship
Principle 1

Leadership

The Board should
lead ethically and
effectively

The Board is committed to the highest standards of
corporate governance. The responsibilities of the Board
include providing effective leadership based on an
ethical foundation. To this end, the Board has adopted a
Code of Ethics which is designed to ensure the effective
management of ethics and is applicable to all Directors,
employees, contractors and other representatives of
the Group. The Board and its Committees monitor
compliance with the Code of Ethics.
Directors have a legal obligation to prevent conflicts of
interest with the Company and are obliged to disclose
any potential conflicts prior to any consideration or
discussion by the Board of such items and are required
to recuse themselves from any meetings while such
discussions are in progress. Disclosures of other
directorships are tabled at the start of each Board
meeting and this is a standard agenda item.
Practices implemented with regards to the appointment
of new Directors are included under Principle 7 below.
A performance and effectiveness assessment of the
Board, the Audit and Risk Committee, and the Social and
Ethics Committee is performed at least every two years,
and the results of these assessments are communicated
to the Board and its committees.

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

27

Principle 2

Organisational ethics

The Board should
govern the ethics of
the organisation in a
way that supports the
establishment of an
ethical culture

In accordance with the Board Charter (which is reviewed
annually), the Board is the guardian of the values and
ethics of the Group and sets the tone for an ethical
organisational culture across the Group. The Board
has a fiduciary duty to act in good faith, with due care
and diligence and in the best interests of the Group
and its stakeholders, and is therefore the primary body
responsible for the corporate governance values of the
Group. While control is delegated to management in the
day-to-day management of the Group, the Board retains
full and effective control over the Group.
The Code of Ethics adopted by the Board commits the
Group and its employees to the highest ethical standards
of conduct and amongst others regulates aspects of
confidentiality, non-discrimination, the acceptance of gifts
and bribes.
Procedures exist in terms of which unethical business
practices can be brought to the attention of the Board.
The Board has adopted a zero-tolerance approach to fraud
and the appropriate remedial action is taken should any
substance be found to the matter reported.

28

Principle 3

Responsible corporate citizenship

The Board should
ensure that the
organisation is and
is seen to be a
responsible corporate
citizen

The Social and Ethics Committee, which reports to the
Board and shareholders, reflects and effects the Company’s
commitment to responsible corporate citizenship. Global
subscribes to the provisions of the Promotion of Equality and
Prevention of Unfair Discrimination Act. The Group’s good
corporate citizenship is further evidenced by its promotion
of the reduction of corruption, as well as its contribution to
the development of the communities in which its activities
are predominantly conducted or within which its products or
services are predominantly marketed.
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The Board should
ensure that the
organisation is and
is seen to be a
responsible corporate
citizen

The Company maintains a record of sponsorship, donations
and charitable giving. In addition to applying the principles
of King IV, the Group has also adopted the principles of the
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) which guide the Company
in its corporate responsibility.
Shareholders are referred to the Social and Ethics
Committee Report, which is included in the Company’s
2018 Integrated Report, for further disclosures in this
regard.
During the period under review there were no material fines
or penalties incurred which needed to be brought to the
attention of stakeholders.

GOVERNANCE OUTCOME: GOOD PERFORMANCE
PART 2: Strategy, performance and reporting
Principle 4

Strategy and performance

The Board should
appreciate that the

The Board, as a whole and through its committees,
approves and monitors the implementation of the strategy
and business plan of the Company, sets objectives,
reviews key risks and opportunities that could threaten or
enhance the Group’s ability to provide sustainable longterm growth to stakeholders, and evaluates performance
against the background of economic, environmental
and social issues relevant to the Company and global
economic conditions. The sustainability of the Group’s
businesses is a key consideration in the development and
implementation of the Group’s business model, supported
by formal policies governing environmental, corporate
social investment, ethical and remuneration matters, all of
which form key components of the value-creation process
and are effective in ensuring the long-term sustainability of
the Group.

organisation’s core
purpose, its risks
and opportunities,
strategy, business
model, performance
and sustainable
development are all
inseparable elements
of the value creation
process
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Risk disclosures, together with the steps to mitigate
the same, are made annually in the Integrated Report.
The Board discloses the top risks faced by the Company
and confirms its satisfaction with the management of
the risk management processes. The Audit and Risk
Committee actively monitors the Group’s key risks as part
of its standard agenda.
Shareholders are referred to the Sustainability Report,
which is included in the Company’s 2018 Integrated
Report, for further disclosures in this regard.

Principle 5

Reporting

The Board should
ensure that reports
issued by the
organisation enable
stakeholders to make
informed assessments
of the organisation’s
performance and its
short, medium and
long-term prospects

The Board is responsible for the integrity and transparency
of the Company’s reporting and, assisted by the Audit
and Risk Committee and the external auditors, oversees
the issue of the Company’s annual financial statements
and integrated reports. The Social and Ethics Committee
oversees the sustainability reporting process, which is
currently not independently assured by a sustainability
assurer. Independent assurance will be considered in
the future as soon as the Company size warrants such an
initiative. The Company also ensures that these reports and
other information are published on its website.
The Board is committed to a communication policy to
ensure that timely, relevant, accurate and honest information
is provided to all stakeholders to enable them to make
informed assessments of the Company’s performance and its
short, medium and long-term prospects.
The Company has adopted policies governing the
dissemination of price-sensitive information and insider
trading. The publication of external reports and press
releases, including releases on the JSE’s electronic news
service (“SENS”), requires the prior approval of the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, or as may be otherwise
instructed.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME: EFFECTIVE CONTROL
PART 3: Governing structures and delegation
Principle 6

Primary role and responsibilities of the Board

The Board should
serve as the focal
point and custodian
of corporate
governance in the
organisation

The Board ensures that the Company applies the
governance principles contained in King IV and continues
to further entrench and strengthen recommended
practices through the Group’s governance structures,
systems, processes and procedures. The Board’s
governance role and responsibilities are set out in the
Board Charter and includes the focal role of setting the
strategic direction of the Group.
The Board meets once every quarter; however, should
an important matter arise between scheduled meetings,
additional meetings may be convened. The Board
may obtain independent, external professional advice
at the Company’s expense concerning matters within
the scope of their duties and the Directors may
request documentation from and set up meetings with
management as and when required.
An appropriate governance framework and the necessary
policies and processes are in place to ensure entities in
the Group adhere to Group requirements and minimum
governance standards.
While it may delegate to its Committees and management
where appropriate, the Board remains ultimately
accountable for corporate governance in the Group and
for the appropriate and transparent reporting of corporate
governance.
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Principle 7

Composition of the Board

The Board should
comprise the
appropriate balance
of knowledge, skills,
experience, diversity
and independence
for it to discharge
its governance role
and responsibilities
objectively and
effectively

The Board comprises of three Executive Directors, three
independent Non-Executive Directors and two NonExecutive Directors. All members of the Board have
the requisite skills and knowledge from diverse industry
backgrounds. The curricula vitae of the Independent
Non-Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors are
included in the Integrated Report.
The Board is chaired by an Independent Non-Executive
Director (“Chairman”) and the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer are separate and clearly
defined to ensure a balance of power and effective
discharge of duties.
The independence of the Non-Executive Directors is
reviewed on an annual basis by the Board against the
criteria stipulated by the Listings Requirements of the
JSE and King IV. The arrangements for the periodic,
staggered rotation of Board members are included in the
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and are duly
applied. To ensure a formal and transparent appointment
process, any new appointment of a Director is considered
by the Board as a whole. The selection process involves
considering the existing balance of knowledge, skills
and experience on the Board and a continual process
of assessing the needs of the Company and the Board’s
effectiveness and ability for it to discharge its governance
role and responsibilities objectively and effectively.
Directors are appointed in terms of the Company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation. New Directors appointed
to the Board are provided with an induction pack,
including background material on the Company’s business
and Board matters, guidance on Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, and meetings with senior executives.
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Directors receive regular briefings on legal and other
developments, including changes in the business and
the business environment. As the Company is listed on
AltX, all Directors must have completed an AltX Directors
Induction Programme or make arrangements to the
satisfaction of the JSE to complete it.
The Board has adopted a policy on the promotion of
gender, race and disability diversity and inclusion at
Board level, and reports in the Integrated Report on how
it has made progress towards the targets established in
the policy. The Board is mindful and supportive of the
need for, and importance of, gender, race and disability
diversity and will be considering this when making new
appointments to the Board.
The Board has carried out a formal self-evaluation and is
satisfied that the composition of the Board reflects the
appropriate mix of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity
and independence.

Principle 8

Committees of the Board

The Board should
ensure that its
arrangements for
delegation within
its own structures
promote independent
judgement, and
assist with balance
of power and the
effective discharge of
its duties

Details regarding the Board’s delegation of authority
framework are included under Principle 10 below.
The Board has delegated certain functions, without
abdicating its own responsibilities, to the following
committees (“Committees”), all of which has been
established pursuant to written Terms of Reference:
•

Audit and Risk Committee;

•

Social and Ethics Committee.
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The Committees are appropriately constituted and
members are appointed by the Board, with the exception
of the Audit and Risk Committee whose members are
nominated by the Board and elected by shareholders of
the Company. Meetings of the Committees are formally
minuted.
The Committees assist the Board to effectively discharge
its duties. The composition and mandates of the
Committees, as detailed in the Corporate Governance
Report (which is included in the Company’s 2018
Integrated Report), ensure that there is an appropriate
balance of power and that an independent perspective is
brought to Board deliberations and that no single Director
has unfettered powers.

Principle 9

Evaluations of the performance of the Board

The Board should
ensure that the
evaluation of its own
performance and that
of its committees,
its chair and its
individual members,
support continued
improvement in its
performance and
effectiveness

The performance and effectiveness of the Board as a
whole and of its individual members, the Audit and Risk
Committee, and the Social and Ethics Committee is
evaluated at least every two years by the Directors.
The Chairman of the Board, assisted by the Company
Secretary, leads the Board’s evaluation process. Items
identified for improvement are discussed and followed up
to ensure the implementation of recommended actions
and the continued improvement in performance and
effectiveness.
An assessment of the suitability and effectiveness of the
Chief Financial Officer is conducted annually by the Audit
and Risk Committee and is confirmed in the Audit and Risk
Committee’s report in the annual financial statements.
The appointment of the Chairman is reviewed by the
Board every two years.
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Principle 10

Appointment and delegation to management

The Board should
ensure that the
appointment of,
and delegation
to, management
contribute to role
clarity and the
effective exercise
of authority and
responsibilities

While retaining overall accountability and subject to
matters reserved to itself, the Board has delegated
authority to the Chief Executive Officer, other Executive
Directors and senior executives to run the day-to-day
affairs of the Company, subject to a delegation of authority
framework which contributes to the effective exercise of
responsibilities. The Board approves and regularly reviews
the delegation of authority framework. In instances
where delegation has taken place to management or
Committees, pre-approved materiality levels and terms of
references apply, respectively.
The Chief Executive Officer is accountable to the Board
for the successful implementation of its strategy and the
overall management and performance of the Group.
The role and responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer,
who was appointed by the Board, are set out in the Board
Charter.
The Board has satisfied itself that key management
functions are fulfilled by competent and appropriately
authorised individuals and are adequately resourced.
To provide continuity of executive leadership, succession
planning is in place for the Chief Executive Officer,
executive management and other key positions.
The Company has appointed Arbor Capital Company
Secretarial Proprietary Limited as Company Secretary,
which reports to the Board on all statutory, regulatory
and governance matters concerning the Group.
The performance and independence of the Company
Secretary is evaluated by the Board annually and the
Board has satisfied itself as to the appropriateness of this
appointment and as to the arms-length nature of this
appointment.
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PART 4: Governance functional areas
Principle 11

Risk governance

The Board should
govern risk in a
way that supports
the organisation
in setting and
achieving its strategic
objectives

In terms of the Board Charter, the Board is responsible for
the governance of risk and the Audit and Risk Committee
assists the Board with this responsibility. The Audit and
Risk Committee sets the approach for risk governance in a
manner that ensures adequate evaluation of opportunity
and risk and supports the Company in setting and
achieving its strategic objectives.
The Board receives regular risk reports from subsidiaries’
management, which considers the risks that could impact
their business. The risk reports, which are updated on
a regular basis, categorise the estimated impact and
likelihood of the risks identified by each subsidiary, and
advise the Board of the controls established/remedial
action taken at subsidiary level to mitigate the risks
identified.
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Principle 12

Technology and information governance

The Board should
govern technology
and information in a
way that supports the
organisation setting
and achieving its
strategic objectives

The Board recognises the importance of technology
and information in relation to the Group’s strategy.
The Group’s IT Policy Framework, which delegates
implementation to management, includes the information
technology strategy, structure and procedures, to ensure
alignment with the performance and sustainability of the
Company, bearing in mind its status as an SME. In terms
of the Board Charter and the Audit and Risk Committee
Terms of Reference, the Board, together with the Audit
and Risk Committee, oversees the governance of
information technology.
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Principle 13

Compliance governance

The Board should
govern compliance
with applicable laws
and adopted, nonbinding rules, codes
and standards in a
way that supports the
organisation being
ethical and a good
corporate citizen

The Board delegates its responsibility for the
implementation and execution of effective compliance
management to management; however, the Board retains
overall accountability for compliance with applicable laws,
adopted non-binding rules, codes and standards.
The Audit and Risk Committee, together with the
Social and Ethics Committee, the Company Secretary,
Designated Advisor and the Group’s internal legal
department, review the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s procedures to ensure compliance with legal
and regulatory responsibilities. Any material incidences
of non-compliance and/or significant fines or penalties
incurred are reported to the Board and/or the Audit and
Risk Committee to ensure that appropriate remedial action
is taken.
The Board is apprised of relevant new legislation or
regulations introduced from time to time to ensure that
compliance requirements are kept up to date. Details of
any material regulatory penalties, sanctions or fines for
non-compliance with the Group’s statutory obligations
incurred will be disclosed in the Integrated Report. During
the year under review, there were no material findings of
non-compliance with applicable legislation or regulations.
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Principle 14

Remuneration governance

The Board should
ensure that the
organisation
remunerates fairly,
responsibly and
transparently so
as to promote the
achievement of
strategic objectives
and positive
outcomes in the
short, medium and
long term

The Board oversees the governance of remuneration and
sets the direction for remuneration across the Group,
taking into account market conditions, expert advice from
remuneration specialists and the Company’s remuneration
policy. The Company’s remuneration policy, as approved
by the Board, is tabled for a non-binding advisory
vote at each Annual General Meeting of shareholders.
Non-Executive Directors’ fees are submitted annually to
shareholders for approval at the Annual General Meeting.
The remuneration policy ensures that the Company
remunerates fairly, responsibly and transparently in the
context of overall remuneration in the Group to enable the
Company to achieve its strategic objectives and to secure
positive outcomes in the short, medium and long term.
A summary of the provisions of the remuneration policy is
included in the Integrated Report.

Principle 15

Assurance

The Board should
ensure that assurance
services and functions
enable an effective
control environment,
and that these
support the integrity
of information for
internal decisionmaking and of
the organisation’s
external reports

The Company is committed to appointing service
providers to provide independent assurance on both the
financial and non-financial aspects of the business based
upon their specific expertise and experience. The Board
sets the direction for assurance services and functions
but the responsibility for overseeing such arrangements
is delegated to the Audit and Risk Committee, which is
charged with supporting the integrity of information for
internal decision-making use and for external reports.
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A combined assurance model has been developed and
formally implemented across the Group to effectively
cover the Group’s significant risks and material matters.
The model includes but is not be limited to the Group’s
risk management and compliance functions, the external
auditors and regulatory inspectors, together with such
other external assurance providers as may be appropriate
or deemed necessary from time to time, including the
Company Secretary, which provides assurance on aspects
of corporate governance and a JSE Designated Advisor
which advises on the Listings Requirements of the JSE.
The Audit and Risk Committee has satisfied itself as to the
independence of the external auditor. With regards to an
internal audit function, the nature and size of the Company
does not warrant such a function at this stage. However,
the Audit and Risk Committee will continue to be guided
by management regarding the requirement for the same,
which would be reviewed from time to time.
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GOVERNANCE OUTCOME: LEGITIMACY
PART 5: Stakeholder relationships
Principle 16

Stakeholders

In the execution of
its governance role
and responsibilities,
the Board should
adopt a stakeholderinclusive approach
that balances the
needs, interests
and expectations of
material stakeholders
in the best interests
of the organisation
over time

The Board, as a whole, acts as a steward of the Company
and each Director acts with independence of mind in
the best interests of the Company and its stakeholders.
In its deliberations, decisions and actions, the Board is
sensitive to the legitimate interests and expectations of
the Company’s stakeholders. Directors are mindful of
their fiduciary duties and their duty to act in accordance
with applicable legislation. Records of Directors’ financial
interests are kept and updated on an on-going basis.
The Company engages its stakeholders on multiple
levels and this allows the Company to manage issues
effectively and timeously. The appropriate balance
between the Company’s various stakeholder groupings
and the best interests of the Company is assessed on
a continuous basis. The Company acts in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act and the JSE
Listings Requirements regarding the equitable treatment
of shareholders.
Stakeholders are kept apprised of the Company’s
performance by publication of the Integrated Report, the
interim and year-end results announcements and, where
required, trading updates.
Management is responsible for maintaining stakeholder
relationships.
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Principle 17

Responsibilities of institutional investors

The Board of an
institutional investor
organisation
should ensure
that responsible
investment is
practices by the
Company to promote
the good governance
and the creation
of value by the
companies which it
serves

Not applicable as the Company is not an institutional
investor organisation.
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Board of Directors and Company Secretary
The Board’s responsibilities include reviewing and guiding corporate strategy, management of risk and approval of budgets and business plans. The Board consists of
the members listed below, with an equal number of Executive, Non-Executive and
Independent Non-Executive Directors. All the Non-Executive Directors are of sufficient
calibre. They bring a value-adding and objective viewpoint to all strategic decisions,
processes and standards relating to business decisions involving the Group.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of Arbor Capital Company Secretarial (Pty) Ltd (“ACCS”), who fulfils the role of Company Secretary. The Board is of the
opinion that ACCS has the requisite attributes, experience and qualifications to fulfil its
commitments effectively. This assessment is based on the experience, qualifications,
competency of the employees of the Company Secretary, also considering the fact
that ACCS provides outsource company secretarial services to other AltX and Main
Board listed companies. The appointment or dismissal of the Company Secretary shall
be decided by the Board as a whole and not one individual Director. All Directors are
entitled to seek independent and professional advice about the affairs of the Group, at
the Group’s expense. The Board sets policies, monitors governance and ensures that
statutory procedures are followed.
Regular Board meetings regulate the affairs of the Group and executive management.
Additional Board meetings are held, if and when necessary. Five Board meetings were
held during the year under review.
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Directors’ attendance at Board meetings for the year ended 30 November 2018:
21-02-18

16-05-18

11-07-18

19-09-18

21-11-18

N Penzhorn (CEO)

√

√

√

√

√

WP Basson (CFO)

√

√

√

√

√

MCC Van Ettinger (COO)

A

√

A

√

√

GK Cunliffe (Chairman)

√

√

√

√

√

GT Magomola

√

√

√

√

√

AJ Naidoo

√

√

√

√

√

MJ Reyneke

√

√

√

√

√

NB Matyolo

√

√

√

A

√

CJP Cilliers*

-

√

√

√

A

Director
Executive

Independent Non- Executive

Non- Executive

√ - indicates attendance
A – indicates apologies

*M
 r CJP Cilliers, a representative of one of the large shareholders in Global was appointed
with effect from 21 February 2018, resigned with effect from 21 November 2018.
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The Company’s Designated Advisor, being Arbor Capital Sponsors (Pty) Ltd attended
all the meetings held by the Board during the year under review.
The Board focuses on directing the economic future of the Group through sound governance and appropriate guidance to management and staff. To guide this process, a
balance between strategy, investments, compliance, risk and control continues to be
benchmarked against best practices whereby the Board measures:
•

the Group’s strategy and purpose;

•

the implementation of values, behaviour and norms to achieve its purpose;

•

leadership, judgment and its ability to achieve sustainability;

•

practices and procedures to protect reputation and assets;

•

compliance with codes, regulations and laws;

•

key performance indicators to stakeholders and shareholders;

•

Director performance and effectiveness; and

•

succession planning and business continuity.

To ensure that the necessary information is received to assist with the monitoring,
measurement and evaluation of the Board objectives, the Board defines its own levels
of materiality, reserving specific powers to it and establishes appropriate Committees
with the necessary written authorities to assist in delivering its strategic objectives and
measurable milestones on other matters.
At Board level, there is a balance of power to ensure that no one Director has unfettered power in decision making. The roles of the Board Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer are separated.
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Audit and Risk Committee
The “Report of the Audit and Risk Committee” is detailed in the financial statements.

Composition of the Audit and Risk Committee
Chairman

GT Magomola

Member

GK Cunliffe*

Member

AJ Naidoo

Member

MJ Reyneke

The Audit and Risk Committee operates under an approved charter and in terms of
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (“Companies Act”). Three of the four members are
Independent Non-Executive Directors.
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Members’ attendance at Audit and Risk Committee meetings for the year ended
30 November 2018:
Director

14-02-18

21-02-18

16-05-18

11-07-18

19-09-18

21-11-18

Independent Non- Executive
GT Magomola (Chairman)

A

√

√

√

√

√

GK Cunliffe (Member)*

√

√

√

√

√

√

AJ Naidoo (Member)

√

√

√

√

√

√

MJ Reyneke (Member)

√

√

√

√

√

√

NB Matyolo

I

I

I

I

A

A

CJP Cilliers

-

-

I

I

I

A

N Penzhorn (CEO)

I

I

I

I

I

I

WP Basson (CFO)

I

I

I

I

I

I

MCC Van Ettinger (COO)

A

A

I

A

I

I

Non- Executive

Executive

√ - indicates attendance
A – indicates apologies
I – attended by invitation
* Subsequent to the Group’s financial year end GK Cunliffe resigned as a member of the Audit and
Risk Committee.

The Company’s Designated Advisor, being Arbor Capital Sponsors (Pty) Ltd attended
all the meetings held by the committee during the year under review.
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Social and Ethics Committee
The Board has established a Social and Ethics Committee with and approved the Committee’s terms of reference at the Board meeting held on the 27th of February 2013.
The “Social and Ethics Committee Report” is detailed in the financial statements.

Composition of the Social and Ethics Committee
Chairman

AJ Naidoo

Member

N Penzhorn

Member

NB Matyolo

Members’ attendance at Social and Ethics Committee meetings for the year
ended 30 November 2018:
Director

21-02-18

19-09-18

AJ Naidoo (Chairman)

√

√

GK Cunliffe

I

I

GT Magomola

I

A

MJ Reyneke

I

A

NB Matyolo (Member)

√

A

CJP Cilliers

-

I

N Penzhorn (CEO) (Member)

√

√

WP Basson (CFO)

I

I

MCC Van Ettinger (COO)

A

A

Independent Non- Executive

Non- Executive

Executive

√ - indicates attendance
A – indicates apologies
I – attended by invitation
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The Company’s Designated Advisor, being Arbor Capital Sponsors (Pty) Ltd attended
all the meetings held by the Committee during the year under review.

Remuneration Committee
The Board will consider forming a Remuneration Committee as soon as the need arises.

Internal Controls And Risk Management
The responsibilities for the Group’s internal control and risk management are addressed
in the Risk Management Report as well as the “Directors’ Responsibility and Approval”
statement. Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors during the year, either
from using an internal self-assessment control process or from reports presented by the
external auditors, to indicate that any material breakdowns occurred in the functioning
of the Group’s internal controls, procedures and systems during the year.

Employment Equity
All companies in the Group are committed to complying with the Employment Equity
Act. The Group continues to promote a culture that provides all employees with opportunities to advance to their optimal levels of career development within the Company
as a SME. The objectives include training, development programs and providing equal
employment opportunities. The Group is committed to a working environment that is
free from racial and gender discrimination and supports the development of inherent
skills and talent in its workforce.
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Code of Ethics
All employees are required to comply with the Group’s Code of Ethics in ensuring that
the Group’s business practices are conducted in a manner that is above reproach in all
circumstances. The Group aims to recruit, train, motivate, reward and retain a skilled
pool of dedicated and committed staff. A performance culture is encouraged which
stimulates individual employees to assume personal responsibility for the performance
of the business.

Promotion of Gender Diversity
In terms of paragraph 3.84(k) of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Board is required
to have a policy on the promotion of gender diversity at Board level. The Board has
adopted a policy on the promotion of gender, race and disability diversity and inclusion at Board level, and reports in the Integrated Report on how it has made progress
towards the targets established in the policy.

Overall
The strategies and policies, mutually agreed management performance criteria and
operational plans of entities are clearly defined and reliable measures have been put in
place. Directors have implemented a risk framework which ensures comprehensive assessments against accurate and relevant financial and non-financial information, which
are obtainable from the Group’s internal reporting systems as well as from external
sources, so that an informed assessment can be made of all issues facing the Board
and Committees.
The Board determines a policy on corporate governance based on the assessment
of the optimal frequency, purpose, conduct and duration of their meetings and those
of its formally established Committees. It also adopts efficient and timely methods
for informing and briefing members of the Board and Committees before meetings.
The Board’s information needs are well defined and regularly monitored.
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Each member is allowed to play a full and constructive role in the Board’s or the relevant Committee’s affairs and has a responsibility to be satisfied that the relevant information has been furnished before making a decision. The relevant management
forums meet at least once a quarter and more frequently if necessary and make use of
Board-appointed Committees to assist with the managing of the business on a more
frequent basis. Minutes of meetings are circulated to all Board members.
Management Committees require approval by the Board so as to ensure that the Board
assumes ultimate responsibility for all operations.
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REMUNERATION REPORT

Background Statement
The board is informing itself about the implications and the impact of the King IV Code
on Corporate Governance (King IV) on the remuneration policy as well as the amended
JSE Listing Requirements and presents this report in two parts. The Chairman’s and
CEO’s reports provide context to the decisions and considerations taken during the
reporting year which influenced the remuneration outcomes and will influence the remuneration going forward.
The Board ensures that the Company and the major subsidiary companies comply with
the necessary principles as set out in the King Report on Governance for South Arica
(King III and King IV, where applicable) and relevant sections of the Companies Act,
2008 (No. 71 of 2008) (the ”Act”) when determining the remuneration of the senior
Executives and Non-Executive Directors.
Since the presentation of the summary of the last remuneration policy to shareholders
no major changes were made. The Board believes that the key performance indicators
(KPIs) which are used for the measurement and determination of short- and long-term
incentive awards are aligned with Company goals and strategies.
Given the diversified nature of the Group, the intention of the remuneration report is
to provide an overview and understanding of Global’s remuneration philosophy and
focuses on Executive and Non-Executive Director remuneration.
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PART 1 – REMUNERATION POLICY
Key principles of our philosophy
The key principles that shape the Group’s policy are:

52

•

A critical success factor of the Group is its ability to attract, retain and motivate
the entrepreneurial talent and engineering skills required to achieve positive
operational outcomes, strategic objectives, and adherence to an ethical culture
and good corporate citizenship. Both short- and long-term incentives are used to
this end.

•

Delivery-specific short-term incentives are viewed as strong drivers of performance.
A significant portion of senior management’s through-the-cycle reward is
designed to be variable and aligned with stakeholder interests. This is prescribed
by the achievement of realistic profit targets together with, where applicable,
the individual’s personal contribution to the growth and development of their
immediate business, their division or the wider Group. Only when warranted by
exceptional circumstances, special bonuses may be considered as additional
awards.

•

Customised long-term incentives are being developed in order to incentivise the
drivers of the various businesses in the Group on a long-term basis in order to
align the objectives of management and shareholders and other stakeholders for
a sustainable period. A large percentage of the key staff are already shareholders
in the Company.
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Policy principles
The Board evaluates and monitors the Group’s remuneration philosophy and practices
to ensure consistency with governance principles and corporate strategy. The Board
implements the approved remuneration policy to ensure:
•

salary structures and policies motivate superior performance and are linked to
realistic performance objectives that support sustainable long-term business
growth;

•

stakeholders are able to make an informed assessment of reward practices and
governance processes; and

•

compliance with all applicable laws and regulatory codes.

The Company is currently listed on the Alternative Exchange of the JSE and is thus currently only required to have an Audit Committee and Social and Ethics Committee, with
compliance required in terms of Part 3 of King IV. Global does not have a Remuneration
Committee but will, in the current financial year, consider the formation of one.

Governance
Board responsibility
The Board carries the ultimate responsibility for the remuneration policy. The Board
will, when required, refer matters for shareholder approval, for example:
•

new share-based incentive schemes and their design; and

•

Non-Executive Board and Committee fees.

The remuneration report, Part 1 and Part 2, will be put to non-binding shareholders’
votes at the AGM of shareholders.
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Role of benchmarking
To ensure that the Group remains competitive in the markets in which it operates, all
elements of remuneration are subject to regular reviews against relevant market and
peer data.
The policy aims at positioning the Group as a leader in waste to energy technologies
in particular. To retain flexibility and ensure fairness when directing human capital to
those areas of the Group requiring focused attention, subjective performance assessments may sometimes be required when evaluating employee contributions.
The Group believes that its remuneration policy plays an essential, vital role in realising
the long term business strategy of the Group and therefore should be competitive in
the markets in which it operates.

Executive Directors
Terms of service
The minimum terms and conditions applied to Executive Directors are governed by
legislation. The notice period for these Directors is one month. In exceptional situations of termination of the Executive Directors’ services, the Board (assisted by independent labour law legal advisers), will oversee the settlement of terms.
Executive Directors are not required to retire for re-election.

Elements of remuneration
The Group operates a total cost-to-company (CTC) philosophy whereby mainly cash
remuneration, benefits in selected instances form part of the employees’ fixed total
CTC remuneration. Senior management and Executive Directors also participate in
short-term incentives in the form of a performance bonus plan.
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The Group views the Executive Directors who are members of the Group Executive
Committee as the current “prescribed officers” as defined in the Companies Act and
therefore no separate remuneration policy disclosure for prescribed officers is necessary.

Summary of remuneration components for Executive Directors
The Group strives to remunerate its employees at market related salaries and the Board
will be guided by one or more appropriate annual salary surveys produced by Industry
specialists. Positions/Jobs are evaluated using a mechanism designed and provided
by an external expert, with this job grading exercise being undertaken every two to
three years.
The Board, in consultation with industry experts and management design all incentive
schemes, (long and short term), to:
•

Promote growth in quality sustainable earnings;

•

Align shareholder and management objectives; and

•

Enhance the ability to recruit and retain key employees and management.

The structure and basis for Performance Based Incentives will be approved by the
Board from time to time to be aligned with Company strategy and current shareholder
and management objectives.
Once an average CPI increase is agreed to by the Board, the Executive Committee will
determine individual application of increases, with variances being due to higher or
lower performance ratings based on regular formal KPA reviews.
Employees whose performance is above expectation receive higher than CPI increases, those with below expectation performance receive increases below CPI with the
overall increase of payroll costs to company not increasing by more than CPI each year.
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Non-Executive Directors
Terms of service
Non-Executive Directors are appointed by the shareholders at the AGM. Interim Board
appointments are permitted between AGMs. Appointments are made in accordance
with Group policy. Interim appointees retire at the next AGM, when they may make
themselves available for re-election.
In terms of Section 26, point 26.3.2.1 of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation one third of the Non-Executive Directors may make him or herself available for
re-election, provided that if a Director is appointed as an Executive Director or as an
employee of the Company in any other capacity, he or she shall not, while he or she
continues to hold that position or office, be subject to retirement by rotation and he
or she shall not, in such case, be taken into account in determining the rotation or
retirement of directors.
In addition, once a Director has served for nine or more years, he or she may continue
to serve in an independent capacity if the Board concludes that the Director exercises objective judgement and there is no interest, position, association or relationship
which, when judged from the perspective of a reasonable and informed third party, is
likely to influence unduly or cause bias in decision making. This assessment must be
made each year after nine years.

Fees
Group policy is to pay fees that are in line with the current developmental state of the
Company, whilst recognising the required time commitment. No contractual arrangements are entered into to compensate Non-Executive Directors for the loss of office.
Non-Executive Directors do not receive short-term incentives nor do they participate
in any long-term incentive schemes. The Group does not provide retirement contributions to Non-Executive Directors.
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Management proposes Non-Executive Directors’ fees to shareholders annually for
shareholder vote.

Shareholder engagement
The Group’s remuneration policy and the implementation thereof are placed before
shareholders for consideration and approval under the terms of an advisory non-binding
vote at the 30 November 2018 financial year end’s AGM as recommended by King IV.
In the event that 25% or more of the votes cast are recorded against either the remuneration policy resolution or the implementation resolution, then:
•

Executive management will engage shareholders to ascertain the reasons for the
dissenting vote. Where considered appropriate, Non-Executive Board members
may participate in these engagements with selected shareholders; and

•

Executive management will make specific recommendations to the Board as to
how the legitimate and reasonable objections of shareholders might be addressed,
either in the Group’s remuneration policy or through changes on how the
remuneration policy is implemented.

Directors’ interests in contracts
During the financial year, none of the current Directors had a material interest in any
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries were parties.

Non-binding advisory vote
Shareholders are requested to cast an advisory vote on the remuneration policy as
contained in Part 1 of this report.
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PART 2 – IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY
Executive Director remuneration
Guaranteed pay – base pay and benefits
In determining the CTC increases for Executive Directors, the board considered the
average increases to general staff and also used relevant market data.
Benchmarks were selected based on a number of factors, including, but not limited to,
Company size and complexity of comparable listed companies by reference to market
capitalisation, turnover, profitability, number of employees and sector.
In aggregate Executive Directors received a 7% increase.

Summary of Executive Directors’ guaranteed pay and short-term incentives
The remuneration paid to Executive Directors, while in office of the Company during the
year ended 30 November 2018, is set out in note 29 of the annual financial statements.

Non-Executive remuneration
The remuneration paid to Non-Executive Directors while in office of the Company during the year ended 30 November 2018 is set out in note 29 of the annual financial
statements.
Proposed Non-Executive Directors’ fees effective from 1 December 2018 is set out in
special resolution 3 on page 207 of the notice of AGM. The above fees are proposed
net of VAT which may become payable thereon to Directors, depending on the status
of the individual director’s tax position.
Refer to special resolution 3 on page 207 of the notice of AGM for approval of the fees
by shareholders in terms of section 66 of the Companies Act.
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Non-binding advisory vote
Shareholders are requested to cast an advisory vote on the remuneration implementation report as contained in Part 2 of this report.

Approval
This remuneration report was approved by the Board of Directors of Global.
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

The Group reviews the process of evaluating and implementing sustainability reporting
by adopting the “triple bottom line” approach to address its responsibilities surrounding environmental, societal and economic issues.
The Board takes cognizance of its Small Medium Enterprise (“SME”) status and realises
that certain responsibilities have been incorporated in the Financial Sector Charter
(“FSC”). Given the aforesaid, management is committed to supporting practices and
policies that will uphold the Board’s requirements. A key focus of the Group going
forward will be to provide funding to its Concentrated Solar Power (“CSP”) project
through its associate Heliosek (Pty) Ltd, which will indirectly contribute to lower electricity consumption by certain customers. In addition, the Group continues to invest in
a number of waste to fuel projects, particularly with regards to waste plastics and waste
rubber, which are expected to address both the requirements for economic benefits as
well as addressing serious environmental problems.

Industry Stakeholders
The Group continues to improve reporting and transparency in creating an accurate
picture of its resources and capital applications.
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Clients
As a listed entity, the need to adhere to and comply with the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”) reporting requirements is observed. The Group will strive continuously
to improve reporting standards and transparency.

Employees
The Group realises that its intellectual capital, situated within its people, is its most valued resource. In managing employees, various factors are taken into consideration, with
the most important of these factors being: work-functionality, industry qualifications, personal development, working culture, personal well-being and structured incentives.

People development:
Skills development remains a priority, with both functional and external training being
provided to staff.

Discrimination:
There were no incidents of discrimination reported during the year under review.
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Workforce breakdown of permanent staff by occupational level, gender and race
for the Group:

Foreign

Total

% Black

Total employees

White

employees

Asian

Unskilled

Coloured

employees

Black

Semi-skilled

Foreign

Skilled employees

White

management

Asian

Senior

Coloured

Top management

Female

Black

Level

Occupational

Male

-

-

2

3

1

-

-

-

-

-

6

33%

-

-

-

2

-

-

-

-

1

-

3

-%

1

-

1

5

-

1

-

1

4

-

13

31%

2

-

-

4

-

-

-

-

2

-

8

25%

30

-

-

-

-

2

-

-

-

1

33

97%

33

-

3

14

1

3

-

1

7

1

63

63%

Employee turnover:
Two commission for conciliation, mediation and arbitration (“CCMA”) referrals were
lodged against dismissals during the reporting period. One of the previously lodged
claims was not resolved at the CCMA and was referred to the Labour Court was successfully settled out of court. Employee turnover numbers and trends are monitored
closely and were maintained at an acceptable level. This is indicative of the fair and
sound human resource policies and processes which are practiced by the Group.
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Financial Sector Charter (“FSC”)
The Group supported and continues to submit to progress initiatives towards aligning
with the Codes of Good Practice of the FSC for Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment (“BBBEE”).

Regulators
The Group operates in a regulated and compliance orientated environment due to its
listing on the JSE. Considerable effort is made to ensure that an active, transparent and
trusting relationship is managed with all regulators and stakeholders.

Social Responsibility
The Group is committed to assuming responsibility for the development and support
of relevant corporate social investment initiatives within its resource capabilities and
sphere of influence.

The Environment
The Group is committed to assuming responsibility for actions within its sphere of influence and has specific projects which will benefit the environment through the recycling
of waste plastics and rubber.
All attempts are made to ensure electronic equipment and relevant back-up infrastructure is within social, moral and environmentally friendly emission and energy saving
standards. On-going actions are taken to ensure electricity and water is managed and
energy saved as far as possible.
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SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT

Background
Global’s Social and Ethics Committee (“the Committee”) is a statutory Committee
which assists the Board in monitoring the Group’s corporate citizenship, sustainability
and ethics.
Global is a listed industrial holding Company, specialising in renewable energy and
asset finance. The focus is primarily on developing business opportunities throughout
Southern Africa.
Global values its reputation and is committed to maintaining the highest level of ethical
standards in the conduct of its business affairs. The actions and conduct of the Company’s staff as well as others acting on the Company’s behalf remains key to maintaining
these standards.
It is in this regard and in accordance with the Companies Act, 2008 (No. 71 of 2008) as
amended, Section 43(5) of the Companies Regulations (“Companies Act”) and the King
IV Report on Good Corporate Governance that the Committee was established by the
Board in 2013 to consider and monitor the moral and ethical conscience of Global.
This report is presented in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act and
forms part of the Integrated Report.
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Role of the Committee
The Committee acts in terms of the delegated authority of the Board and assists the
Directors in monitoring the Group’s activities and disclosures in terms of legislation,
regulation and codes of best practices relating to:
•

ethics;

•

sustainable development and sustainability;

•

stakeholder engagement, including employees, customers, suppliers,
communities and the environment; and

•

strategic empowerment and transformation.

The Committee developed a Code of Ethics that reflects the Company’s core values
and also embraces the principles as set out in King IV, where applicable.

Responsibilities of the Committee
The responsibilities of the Committee are as follows:
•

monitor activities relating to social and economic development, good corporate
citizenship, the environment, and health and public safety;

•

ensure appropriate short, medium and long-term targets are set by management;

•

monitor progress on strategic empowerment and performance against targets;

•

monitor changes in the application and interpretation of empowerment charters
and codes; and

•

monitor functions required in terms of the Companies Act and its regulations.

Composition and Functioning
The Committee comprises of three members, being Mr AJ Naidoo (Independent
Non-Executive) as chairman of the Committee, Mr N Penzhorn (Executive). and Ms
N Matyolo (Non-Executive). The Committee receives feedback from management on
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other Committees and will report on any significant matters to the Board in terms of its
mandate. The members of the Committee are nominated and appointed by the Board.
The remaining Board members are encouraged to attend Committee meetings as invitees.
The Committee met twice during the year. Attendance at Committee meetings is detailed
on page 47 of the Integrated Report and fees paid to Committee members for 2018 and
proposed for 2019 are detailed on pages 170 and 207 of the Integrated Report.
The effectiveness of the Committee is assessed as part of the annual Board and Committee self-evaluation process. The Committee was assessed to have adequately discharged its mandate.

Activities of the Committee
The responsibilities and functions of the Committee which are aligned with the Committee’s statutory functions as set out in the Companies Act formed the basis of the
work plan for 2018. These activities are as follows: To monitor the Company’s activities, having regard to any relevant legislation, other legal
requirements or prevailing codes of best practice, with regard to matters relating to:
•

Social and economic development, including the Company’s standing in terms of
the goals and purposes of:
(aa)

the 10 principles set out in the United Nations Global Compact Principles
(“UNGCP”);

(bb)

the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”)
recommendations regarding corruption;

(cc)

the Employment Equity Act; and

(dd)

the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act.
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•

Good corporate citizenship, including the Company’s:
(aa)

promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, and reduction of
corruption;

(bb)

contribution to development of the communities in which its activities are
predominantly conducted or within which its products or services are predominantly marketed; and

(cc)

record of sponsorship, donations and charitable giving.

The environment, health and public safety, including the impact of the Company’s activities and of its products or services.
Consumer relationships, including the Company’s advertising, public relations and
compliance with consumer protection laws; and
•

Labour and employment, including:
(aa)

the Company’s standing in terms of the International Labour Organization
Protocol on decent work and working conditions;

(bb)

the Company’s employment relationships and its contribution toward the
educational development of its employees;

(cc)

to draw matters within its mandate to the attention of the Board as occasion
requires; and

(dd)

to report, through one of its members, to shareholders at the Company’s
Annual General Meeting on the matters within its mandate.

During the year under review the Committee attended to the matters relating to the
work plan above and reports to the Board. Global has realised that the monitoring of
the above and conforming to the above will be ongoing work in progress within the
Company structure.
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However, Global has also adhered to the following matters, as mentioned above, with
formal policies being implemented to address these: •

Social and economic development. Global adheres to the principles set out in
the UNGCP and the OECD recommendations on corruption. Global meets the
labour law requirements of the Employment Equity Act (No. 55 of 1988) and has
formal policies on bribery and corruption and protected disclosures.

•

Good corporate citizenship. Global subscribes to the provisions of the
Promotion of Equality and Prevention of Unfair Discrimination Act. No incidents
have been reported.

•

The environment, health and public safety. Global subscribes to and is
compliant with the Occupational Health and Safety Act. No major incidents have
been reported during the period.

•

Consumer relations. Global subscribes to and is compliant with the Consumer
Protection Act (No. 68 of 2008). No incidents have been reported.

•

PAIA. The Company is compliant with the requirements of the Promotion of
Access to Information Act, No. 2 of 2000. No requests for information were
received during the year under review.

•

Protection of Personal Information. Global subscribes to and is compliant with
the Protection of Personal Information Act (No. 4 of 2013). No incidents have
been reported.

•

Labour and employment. Global supports and adheres to the terms of the
International Labour Organisation Protocol. Global is compliant with the following
acts:
–– Basic Conditions of Employment Act No. 75 of 1997;
–– Labour Relations Act No. 66 of 1995;
–– Skills and Development Levies Act No. 9 of 1999; and
–– the Unemployment Insurance Act No. 63 of 2001.

Other than as specifically stated above, no incidents have been reported during the
period with regards to compliance.
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Public Reporting and Assurance
The Committee, together with the Audit and Risk Committee, is responsible for reviewing and approving the sustainability content included in the Integrated Annual Report
and published on the Company’s website, as well as determining and making recommendations on the need for external assurance of the Group’s public reporting on its
sustainable performance. The Committee has reviewed the content of the abridged
Sustainability Report included in the Integrated Annual Report, and has recommended
it for approval by the Board.
The Committee is also required to report through one of its members to the Company’s shareholders on the matters within its mandate at the Company’s Annual General
Meeting to be held on 10 July 2019. The Committee has elected to provide this written report to be included in the Integrated Report as opposed to reporting verbally at
the Annual General Meeting.
In the notice of the Annual General Meeting included in the Integrated Annual Report
on page 196, shareholders are referred to this report by the Committee, read with the
Sustainability Report. Any specific questions to the Committee may be sent to the
Company Secretary prior to the meeting.

AJ Naidoo
Chairman
12 March 2019
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Nature of business
Global Asset Management Limited (“Global” and/or “the Company” and/or “the
Group” and/or “GAM”) focuses providing green energy solutions. The company has
developed best-in-class technology that converts rubber and plastic waste into high
quality fuels. Global also has the intent of becoming a significant participant in the
solar energy sector.
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GK Cunliffe

Independent

Non-Executive Chairperson

AJ Naidoo

Independent

Non-Executive

GT Magomola

Independent

Non-Executive

MJ Reyneke

-

Non-Executive
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-

Non-Executive

CJP Cilliers*

-

Non-Executive

N Penzhorn

-

Executive (CEO)

WP Basson

-

Executive (CFO)

MCC van Ettinger

-

Executive (COO)

*Mr CJP Cilliers, a representative of one of the large shareholders of Global,
resigned as a Non-Executive Director effective 21 November 2018.
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Auditor

Crowe JHB
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(Registration number 1998/025284/07)

Registration
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Level of

These financial statements have been audited in compliance with the

assurance
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Compiler

The consolidated annual financial statements were internally compiled
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of Global Asset Management Limited
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Global Asset Management
Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 100 to 189, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 30 November 2018, the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Global Asset Management Limited and its subsidiaries
as at 30 November 2018, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.
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Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated financial statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Independent
Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors
(“IRBA Code”) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits
of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements
applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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How our audit addressed

Key audit matter

Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill of R37 959 099 was recognised as a result of the acquisition by the
Group of Earthwize Energy Holdings (Pty)
Ltd in a prior reporting period. The Directors conducted their annual impairment

the key audit matter

We focused our testing of the impairment of goodwill and other intangible
assets on the key assumptions made by
the Directors. Our audit procedures included:
•

critically evaluating the

test to assess the recoverability of the

determination of the cash-

goodwill and considered whether there

generating units;

are indicators of impairment with respect
to other intangible assets. In order to es-

•

used to calculate the fair value less

tablish whether an impairment exists, fair

costs to sell and value in use of the

value less costs to sell or the value in use

individual cash generating units

is determined and compared to the net

complies with the requirements of

carrying value of the goodwill and other
intangible assets.

evaluating whether the model

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets;
•

validating the assumptions applied

As detailed in note 3, this determination

and inputs in the respective models

of an impairment is highly subjective as

by comparing it to historical

significant judgement is required by the

information and approved budgets;

Directors in determining the fair value

and

less costs to sell or the value in use as
appropriate. The value in use is based
on the cash flow forecast model for each
cash-generating unit and requires the
estimation of model assumptions, most
importantly the discount rate and growth
rate. Accordingly, due to the high estimation uncertainty of this material balance,
the impairment of goodwill is considered
to be a key audit matter.

•

subjecting the key assumptions to
sensitivity analyses.

We found the models and assumptions
applied in the impairment assessments
to be appropriate and concur with the
Directors’ decision not to impair.
We considered the disclosure of the
goodwill and other intangible assets to
be appropriate for purposes of the consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
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are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group and/or the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.
•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit and Risk Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the Audit and Risk Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the Audit and Risk Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.
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Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information which comprises the Directors’
Report, Audit and Risk Committee’s Report and Company Secretary’s Certificate, as
required by the Companies Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date
of this report.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, as well as for overseeing
the company’s financial reporting process. The directors are responsible for such internal
control as is determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to a going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/or the company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated
4 December 2015, we report that Crowe JHB has been the auditor of Global Asset
Management Limited and its subsidiaries for 10 years.

Crowe JHB
Partner: Craig George
Registered Auditor
Sandton
12 March 2019
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
for the year ended 30 November 2018

The report of the Audit Committee is presented as required by section 61(8)(a)(iii) of
the Companies Act, 2008 (“the Companies Act”).
The Audit Committee consisted of the following Non-Executive Directors during the
reporting period:
•

GT Magomola (Independent Chairman)

•

GK Cunliffe (Independent Member)*

•

AJ Naidoo (Independent Member)

•

MJ Reyneke (Member)

*GK Cunliffe resigned as a member of the Audit Committee subsequent to the reporting period
ended 30 November 2018.

In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, a representative of the designated
advisor is entitled to attend all Audit Committee meetings.

Statement of Audit Committee responsibilities for the year ended
30 November 2018
The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board by performing an objective and
independent review of the functioning of the organisation’s finance and accounting
control mechanisms. It exercises its functions through close liaison and communication
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with corporate management and the external auditors. The Committee is guided by
its terms of reference, dealing with membership, structure and levels of authority and
has the following responsibilities:
•

ensuring compliance with applicable legislation and the requirements of
regulatory authorities;

•

nominating for appointment a registered auditor who, in the opinion of the Audit
Committee, is independent of the company;

•

matters relating to financial accounting, accounting policies, reporting and
disclosure;

•

internal audit policy including considering the need for an internal audit function
and in due course, reviewing the activities, scope, adequacy, and effectiveness of
the internal audit function and audit plans;

•

review/approval of external audit plans, findings, reports, fees and determination
and approval of any non-audit services that the auditor may provide to the
Company;

•

review/consideration of expertise and experience of the financial director and the
financial team;

•

compliance with the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct; and

•

compliance with the Company’s Code of Ethics.

One of these responsibilities is the assessment of the independence of the auditor.
The Committee is satisfied that the auditor is independent of the Company. It has further
satisfied itself that the audit firm and designated auditor are accredited to appear on the
Johannesburg Stock Exchange list of accredited auditors. The Audit Committee has also
reviewed the relevant documentation to consider the suitability of the audit firm and designated auditor as stipulated in paragraph 3.84(g)(iii) of the JSE Listings Requirements.
The Audit Committee has established a non-audit services policy as well as an approval
process for non-audit services, where utilised. During the reporting period, no non-audit services were utilised.
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The Committee is of the opinion that Global’s system of internal financial controls and
financial reporting procedures continue to be effective and operating and forms a basis
for the preparation of reliable financial statements.
The company has not appointed an internal auditor based on the size of the Company,
the system of internal financial controls and considering information and explanations
given by management, together with discussions held with the external auditors on
the results of their audit. The consideration of the internal audit function is a standing
agenda item for the Audit Committee meetings scheduled during the year.
The Committee also oversees cooperation between management and the external auditors and serves as a link between the Board of Directors and these functions. The Committee is satisfied that it has complied with its legal, regulatory and other responsibilities.
The Committee is also satisfied as to the expertise and experience of the financial
director and the finance team. Management has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements with the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee has reviewed them
without management or external auditors being present. The quality of the accounting
policies as well as any audit issues are discussed with the external auditors.
The Audit Committee considers the consolidated financial statements of Global Asset Management Limited to be a fair presentation of its financial position as at
30 November 2018 and of the results of the operations, changes in equity and cash
flows for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the Companies Act.

GT Magomola
Chairman
12 March 2019
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL
for the year ended 30 November 2018

The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 2008 (“Companies Act”), to maintain
adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the
consolidated financial statements for the Group (“financial statements”) and related
financial information included in this report.
It is the Directors’ responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the
state of affairs of the Group as at the reporting date and the results of its operations
and cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the requirements of the Companies Act. The external
auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the financial statements.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and are based upon
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates.
The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Group and place considerable importance
on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board of directors sets standards for internal control through various
forums aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner.
The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by
management, that the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that
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the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the financial statements.
However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable and not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Directors have reviewed the Group’s budget and cash flow forecast for the twelve
months ending 30 November 2019 and, in the light of this review and the current financial position, are satisfied that the Group has access to adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
The financial statements set out on pages 100 to 189, which have been prepared on
the going concern basis, were approved by the Board of Directors on 12 March 2019
and were signed on its behalf by:

GK Cunliffe				N Penzhorn
Chairman					

Chief Executive Officer

12 March 2019				

12 March 2019			
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REPORT OF THE COMPANY SECRETARY
for the year ended 30 November 2018

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, 2008 (“the Companies Act”), we
declare that to the best of our knowledge, for the year ended 30 November 2018,
Global has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a
public company in terms of the Companies Act and that such returns are true, correct
and up to date.
			

					
Arbor Capital Company Secretarial Proprietary Limited		
Registration Number 1998/025284/07		
Company Secretary		
12 March 2019		
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
for the year ended 30 November 2018

1. Basis of preparation
The Board of Directors is pleased to present the Group’s audited results for the year
ended 30 November 2018. The accounting policies adopted for purposes of this report comply, and have been consistently applied, in all material respects with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

2. Business overview
Global has made progress during the period, establishing its renewable energy businesses which focus on waste-to-energy solutions. A rising oil price has significantly
added to projected future cashflows, whereas increasing capex costs and project delays have negatively impacted on projected returns.
Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd (“EPT”) has closed its operations in Springs and has re-established its recycling reactors in Nigel, the newly acquired industrial site. The Company
has used this opportunity to further enhance its process flows, with special emphasis
being placed on the upgrading of the initial rubber recycling reactor, to be on par
with the second reactor in terms of process time and product quality. The facility is
scheduled to recycle up to 500 tons per month of waste rubber. The carbon refinement
project has achieved satisfactory results and EPT has distributed commercial samples
to potential customers for testing.
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Plastics Green Energy (Pty) Ltd (“PGE”) has successfully concluded its pilot plant campaign and has commenced with the construction of its commercial recycling facility in
Nigel. Oil samples of its sulphur free, high quality industrial fuel oil have been prepared
and sent to customers for testing. The waste plastic supply agreements have been
finalised and approximately 2 000 tons of waste plastic feedstock has been sourced
and stored to date. Given the rise in fuel prices as well as the current hype around the
detrimental impact of plastic waste on the environment, PGE is in an ideal position of
providing an end-of-life solution to the plastics industry.
Heliosek (Pty) Ltd has completed the design for its initial pilot plant to be established
during 2019. The technology allows for the highly efficient exploitation of the unlimited
solar resource base of Southern Africa and creates an opportunity for expansion into
other international jurisdictions. The technology offers an alternative to existing solar
energy and other renewable energy solutions at a lower comparative cost.
The performance of LFS Assets (Pty) Ltd (“LFS”), Global’s largest subsidiary by assets
which focuses on asset financing in the logistics sector, has deteriorated slightly. Revenue decreased from R197 million in 2017 to R147 million in 2018 over the comparative
12 month period from December 2017 to November 2018. This is due to the fact that a
limited amount of new financing deals have been closed, since Linde Material Handling
South Africa (Pty) Ltd (“LMH”) had given notice to LFS in terms of the Country Brand
Agreement, under which LFS has leased Linde forklift trucks on an exclusive basis to
customers over the past 12 years. LFS has employed additional resources to manage
its second hand fleet of roughly 600 trucks independently of LMH, and will also investigate the opportunity of funding logistics assets from other manufacturers, as well as
renewable energy assets.
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3. Financial results
Points of interest:
Asset finance business
Global classified its asset finance business in terms of IFRS 5 as held for sale, with the
transaction being in line with the Group’s long-term strategy to focus on its renewable
energy business. The transaction results in Main Street 1236 (Pty) Ltd becoming the
controlling shareholder in LFS as at 1 February 2019. The consideration for the shares
is R67,2 million.

Acquisition of Jabumart (Pty) Limited (“Jabumart”)
The Group acquired all the shares in issue of Jabumart. The transaction had certain
conditions precedent of which the final condition, being the transfer of a property into
Jabumart, was met on 11 December 2017. The property is used by the Group as the
processing site for its plastic-to-oil and rubber-to-oil pyrolysis operations.

Rights offer
The Company decided to raise equity by way of a Renounceable Rights Offer (“Rights
Offer”) in June 2018.
In terms of the Rights Offer, Global shareholders were entitled to subscribe for Rights
Offer shares on the basis of 50 Rights Offer shares for every 100 Global shares held on
such date at a Rights Offer price of R1.83 per Rights Offer share. The number of Rights
Offer shares subscribed to by existing holders were 1 271 881, raising R2,3 million,
which resulted in the increase of ordinary share capital. R0,3 million equity raising costs
were capitalised against ordinary share capital in this regard. ARC did not follow its
rights at the time as it did not want to trigger a mandatory offer. However, shareholders
are referred to Subsequent Events below. The Rights Offer price was at a substantial
discount to the net asset value and tangible net asset value of 264.7 cents per share
and 211.9 cents per share respectively.
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Offer to the Earthwize Energy Holdings (Pty) Limited (“Earthwize Energy Holdings”) minority shareholder
The only remaining minority shareholder in Earthwize Energy Holdings accepted an
offer made by Global to buy its 4.75% interest in Earthwize Energy Holdings. This offer
also included the settlement of any current and future legal matters that the shareholder or its representative had or might have in future. The R2 million offer will be
settled through a combination of Global shares and cash, payable by August 2019.
The non-controlling interest of the minority shareholder is currently recorded at approximately R1,8 million.

Offer to the Total Rubber Recycle (Pty) Limited (“Total Rubber Recycle”) minority
shareholders
The Total Rubber Recycle minority shareholders have agreed to part with their 9.5%
interest in Total Rubber Recycle in exchange for Global shares. The number of Global
shares issued is in line with the Group’s latest valuations and as approved by an independent expert.

Other points of interest:
•

Global recorded a loss after taxation from continuing operations attributable
to equity holders of the parent of R7,9 million for the twelve months ended
30 November 2018, as a result of incurring operational and development costs
on its renewable energy businesses in the Group and a provision against a loan
receivable.

•

Property, plant and equipment in the statement of financial position has decreased
with the re-classification of the disposal group held for sale. The remainder of the
property plant and equipment consists mainly of plant under construction and land
and buildings.

•

Cash and cash equivalents decreased with the acquisition of Jabumart, the roll-out
of the plastic-to-oil and rubber-to-oil operations, and the elimination of the cash
balance included in the disposal group held for sale respectively. The capitalisation
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of the plastic-to-oil operation has been delayed due to funding constraints. Fund
raising efforts are still ongoing in order to fully capitalise the renewable energy
businesses.
•

The net asset value per share has decreased by 25,3% from 264.7 cents per share
as at November 2017 to 197.7 cents per share as at November 2018. The main
reason for the decrease relates to the loss on re-classification of the asset finance
business in terms of IFRS 5.

•

The contingent consideration payable forms part of the consideration transferred
in acquiring the controlling interest in Earthwize Energy Holdings where GAM
will allot shares and make a cash payment if certain performance criteria are met
within 6 years (from December 2015) of acquiring the majority interest in Earthwize
Energy Holdings.
The increase in other financial liabilities relates to a loan from ARC. The purpose
of the loan is to support the current operations and the roll out of the renewable
energy projects.

4. Subsidiaries
The Group and its subsidiaries comprise the following companies:
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•

Global Asset Management Limited

•

LFS Assets (Pty) Ltd

•

LFS Assets Namibia (Pty) Ltd

•

GAM New Energy (Pty) Ltd

•

Earthwize Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd

•

Plastics Green Energy (Pty) Ltd

•

Total Rubber Recycle (Pty) Ltd

•

Jabumart (Pty) Ltd
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5. Dividends
No dividends were proposed or paid during the reporting period.

6. Segment reporting
Segment information has been reported by the Group in the following segments, namely
rentals and maintenance, sale of forklifts, renewable energy and other which reflects
project management, corporate services and any other income and expenses. Further
details are set out in note 31 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

7. Directors
Directors of the Company during the reporting period and up to the date of this report
were as follows:
Non-Executive Directors

Qualifications

GK Cunliffe

CA(SA)

GT Magomola

B.Com (SA), MBA, MRDT (MIT)

AJ Naidoo

B Com

MJ Reyneke

CA(SA)

NB Matyolo
CJP Cilliers*

CA(SA)

Executive Directors
N Penzhorn

MSc, CFA

WP Basson

CA(SA)

MCC Van Ettinger
* Mr CJP Cilliers, a representative of one of the large shareholders in Global, resigned as a NonExecutive Director effective 21 November 2018.
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Directors’ interest in the issued ordinary shares
At 30 November 2018, the Directors’ interests were as follows:
2018

2017

Beneficial

Beneficial

Indirect R’

%*

Indirect R’

%*

N Penzhorn

4 880 852

6.52

4 334 404

5.90

MCC van Ettinger

5 706 051

7.54

5 706 051

7.77

10 586 903

14.06

10 040 455

13.67

Total

*Based on 75 659 069 (2017: 73 481 246), being the total number of shares in issue.

8. Major shareholders
Below is a list of shareholders who held an interest of 5% or more of the Company’s
issued share capital at 30 November 2018, being the last business and trading day of
the reporting period.
2018
No of shares

%*

22 660 571

No of shares

held

%*

29.95

22 660 571

30.84

19 323 671

25.54

19 323 671

26.30

8 695 652

11.49

8 695 652

11.83

(Pty) Ltd

5 706 051

7.54

5 706 051

7.77

Earthwize Recycling (Pty) Ltd

4 880 852

6.45

4 334 404

5.90

The Altena Investment Trust

4 344 924

5.74

3 915 476

5.33

65 611 721

86.71

64 635 825

87.97

Insure Group Managers Ltd

held

2017

UBI General Partner (Pty) Ltd obo
the ARC Fund
Oakleaf Insurance Company Ltd
Conceptual Technologies Africa

Total

*Based on 75 659 069 (2017: 73 481 246), being the total number of shares in issue.
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9. Employment
Employee costs and statistics
Group 2018

Group 2017

Number of staff at the beginning of the reporting period

49

32

New employees

24

23

(10)

(6)

63

49

Number of permanent staff

Resignations
Number of staff at the reporting date

Details of Directors’ emoluments and employee costs are set out under the related
parties and the operating profit notes to the consolidated financial statements respectively. Further details are set out in note 23 and 29 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Fixed remuneration
Guaranteed cost-to-company remuneration is reviewed annually in line with current
remuneration surveys and using, as a guideline, the average percentage increase
recommended by the Chairman and the Board’s Executive Directors.

Interim increases or ad-hoc increases
These increases are only allowed if justified in view of the following:
•

Promotion or transfer to another role which is graded at a higher remuneration
level; or

•

Evidence of a below market salary; or

•

An increase in workload that justifies an increase in reward level; or

•

To establish internal equity.

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

95

All increases must remain within the available salary budget. Interim increases must be
proposed by the relevant manager for approval by the Chief Executive Officer.
The Group makes use of incentive bonuses paid annually on approval by the Chairman
and the Board’s Executive Directors. The incentive bonuses are governed by rules as
set out in the remuneration policy of the Group.
The discretionary executive incentive bonus applies only to the Executive Directors of
the Company. The bonus calculation takes into account the Group’s increase in earnings
per share, the performance of the executive team, the performance of the specific executive’s business unit and the executive’s personal performance as determined in line
with the board, peer reviews, 360 degree reviews and the reporting line expectations.
The same management and staff incentive bonus process applies to management and
staff where the performance of those individuals warrants such a bonus payment. These
final bonus payments are subject to the approval of the Board’s Executive Directors.

10. Litigation
There is currently litigation pending concerning LFS Assets (Pty) Ltd. This will have no
impact on the Group for the reasons disclosed in note 12 and 13 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
There is no other litigation pending that is likely to have a material impact on the results
of the Group.

11. Contingent liabilities
The Group had no commitments at 30 November 2018 (2017:R Nil), however due to
the development of the pyrolysis plants the Group expects to incurred capital expenditure of approximately R88 million, subject to funding being obtained.
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12. Corporate actions
Issue of shares for cash and share repurchases
2 177 823 Global shares (constituting approximately 2.96% of Global’s shares following
such subscription) were issued for a consideration of R4 230 022.
At the Annual General Meeting of the Company which was held on 11 July 2018,
the requisite majority of shareholders approved an ordinary resolution authorising the
Directors to issue shares for cash in accordance with the Johannesburg Stock Exchange
Listings Requirements.
During the year under review, the Company did not repurchase any shares.

13. Special resolutions passed during the reporting period
Special resolutions were proposed and passed at the annual general meeting held on
11 July 2018:
•

A general authority to allot and issue shares for cash;

•

Authority to issue shares, securities convertible into shares or rights that may not
exceed 30% of the voting power of the current issued share capital;

•

The approval of Non-Executive directors’ remuneration;

•

General authority to enter into funding agreements and provide loans or other
financial assistance; and

•

General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares.

No other special resolutions were proposed or passed during the reporting period for
Global or any of its subsidiary companies.
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14. Events after the reporting period
An accelerated specific issue of shares for cash
UBI General Partner (Pty) Ltd, on behalf of the ARC Fund (“ARC”), has agreed to a
subscription for 27 322 404 Global shares for cash, at an issue price of R1.83 per share,
for an aggregate amount of R50 million. The proposed subscription will result in ARC
holding approximately 45.30% of the entire issued share capital of Global.

Loan from ARC
Subsequent to the reporting date, ARC advanced R7,5 million of short-term funding to
the Group. The purpose of the loan is to support the current operations and roll out of
the renewable energy businesses.

Asset finance business
Refer to note 12 and note 13 for the details on the IFRS 5 classification of the asset
finance business.
There are no other major events subsequent to 30 November 2018 that require disclosure.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 November 2018

Notes

2018

2017

R’

R’

104 524 423

476 925 632

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

2

57 311 965

413 642 734

Goodwill

3

37 959 099

37 959 099

Intangible asset

4

-

824 164

Investment in equity-accounted investees

5

204 961

204 961

Loans and advances to customers

6

-

21 157 886

Deferred tax asset

7

5 643 783

3 136 788

Trade and other receivables

8

3 404 615

-

41 858 448

103 846 824

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

8

3 602 665

41 852 483

Other financial assets

9

36 047 378

21 506 484

Cash and cash equivalents

10

-

39 427 737

Inventories

11

2 208 405

1 060 120

Assets classified as held for sale

13

330 935 705

-

477 318 576

580 772 456

Total assets
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Notes

2018

2017

R’

R’

100 836 971

96 999 130

48 621 654

97 510 649

149 458 625

194 509 779

30 113 908

34 022 502

179 572 533

228 532 281

10 817 315

236 723 520

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital

14

Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to equity holders of
the parent

Non-controlling interest

15

Total equity
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Loans payable

16

8 255 206

192 623 561

Contingent consideration payable

17

745 353

1 321 023

Deferred tax liability

7

1 816 756

42 778 936

23 871 811

115 516 655

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

18

9 118 334

20 269 270

Loans payable

16

606 127

90 303 061

Other financial liabilities

19

12 968 088

3 154 763

Bank overdraft

10

1 174 554

-

4 708

1 789 561

263 056 917

-

477 318 576

580 772 456

Current tax liability
Liabilities associated with assets held-for- sale
Total equity and liabilities

13
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 November 2018
2018
Notes

Re-presented

2017

R’

R’

3 297 807

482 977

-

-

3 297 807

482 977

Continuing operations
Revenue

20

Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income

21

1 381 524

1 915 159

Gain on loss of control of subsidiary

22

-

3 709 422

(17 761 315)

(9 017 223)

(13 081 984)

(2 909 665)

2 853 802

1 574 791

(1 488 895)

(743 001)

(11 717 077)

(2 077 875)

1 723 107

1 120 455

(9 993 970)

(957 420)

Operating expenses
Operating loss

23

Finance income
Finance costs

24

Loss before tax
Income tax benefit
Loss for the period from continuing
operations
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2018
Notes

Re-presented*

2017

R’

R’

(39 676 135)

7 388 224

(49 670 105)

6 430 804

(7 900 322)

(420 263)

(39 676 135)

7 388 224

(47 576 457)

6 967 961

(2 093 648)

(537 157)

(49 670 105)

6 430 804

Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued
operations

12

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive
(loss)/income attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent from continuing operations
Equity holders of the parent from discontinued operations
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interest

15

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
(cents) from:
Continuing and discontinued operations

26

(64.3)

10.8

Continuing operations

26

(10.7)

(0.7)

*Re-presented for discontinued operations (refer to note 12).
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104
-

Total comprehensive income
and profit for the period

96 999 130

-

Transfer of common control
reserve to retained earnings

Balances at
30 November 2017

-

Non-controlling interest
arising from change in ownership interest that does not
result in a loss of control

39 791 319

-

Previously recognised losses
transferred to non-controlling interest due to loss
of control

Total changes

-

(208 681)

Share issue expenses

Equity-settled share-based
payment (Refer to note 36)

40 000 000

Issue of ordinary shares
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-

6 941 028

-

6 941 028

-

-

-

-

-

(6 941 028)

R’

57 207 811

R’

Share capital

Balances at
30 November 2016

Common
control
reserve

97 510 649

881 231

6 967 961

(6 941 028)

-

(186 254)

1 040 552

-

-

96 629 418

R’

Retained
earnings

194 509 779

47 613 578

6 967 961

-

-

(186 254)

1 040 552

(208 681)

40 000 000

146 896 201

R’

Shareholders’
interest
before noncontrolling
interest

34 022 502

32 561 429

(537 157)

-

32 912 332

186 254

-

-

-

1 461 073

R’

Noncontrolling
interest

228 532 281

80 175 007

6 430 804

-

32 912 332

-

1 040 552

(208 681)

40 000 000

148 357 274

R’

Total equity

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 November 2018
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Notes

Balances at 30 November
2018
14

100 836 971

3 837 841

-

Total comprehensive loss
and loss for the period

Total changes

-

(392 181)

Share issue expenses

Acquisition of non-controlling interest without
change in control

4 230 022

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

R’

96 999 130

R’

Share capital

Issue of ordinary shares

Balances at
30 November 2017

Common
control
reserve

48 621 654

(48 888 995)

(47 576 457)

(1 312 538)

-

-

97 510 649

R’

Retained
earnings

149 458 625

(45 051 154)

(47 576 457)

(1 312 538)

(392 181)

4 230 022

194 509 779

R’

Shareholders’
interest
before noncontrolling
interest

15

30 113 908

(3 908 594)

(2 093 648)

(1 814 946)

-

-

34 022 502

R’

Noncontrolling
interest

179 572 533

(48 959 748)

(49 670 105)

(3 127 584)

(392 181)

4 230 022

228 532 281

R’

Total equity

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
for the year ended 30 November 2018

Notes

2018

2017

R’

R’

115 342 588

117 456 669

2 853 802

1 574 791

(23 476 423)

(29 982 122)

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations

27

Finance income
Finance costs
Tax benefit

28

1 779 778

1 470 715

96 499 745

90 520 053

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

(28 991 224)

(8 652 055)

Loans advanced to related parties

(18 200 559)

(5 578 545)

(6 661 079)

-

(53 852 862)

(14 230 600)

(200 000)

-

2 327 543

28 854 171

(392 181)

(208 681)

-

20 500 000

-

12 702 000

(88 647 861)

(104 561 927)

Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary, no cash acquired
Net cash utilised in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Acquisition of non-controlling interest
Proceeds from issue of share capital
Payment of share issue expenses
Proceeds from shares issued to noncontrolling shareholders after subsidiarity
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest in
subsidiary
Repayment of loans payable
Proceeds from other financial liabilities

19

12 968 088

-

Repayment of loans from related parties

19

(3 154 763)

(2 368 055)

(77 099 174)

(45 082 492)

Total cash movement for the period

Net cash applied to financing activities

(34 452 291)

31 206 961

Cash at the beginning of the period

39 427 737

8 220 776

13

(6 150 000)

-

10

(1 174 554)

39 427 737

Cash balances included in assets classified as
held-for- sale
Cash deficit at the end of the period
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 30 November 2018

Reporting entity
Global Asset Management Limited is a Company listed on the Johannesburg Stock
Exchange and is domiciled in South Africa. The consolidated financial statements at
30 November 2018 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as
“the Group”). The going concern principle has been adopted in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and its interpretations issued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”), the SAICA Financial Reporting
Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Pronouncements
as issued by the Financial Reporting Council, the requirements of the Companies Act of
South Africa and the JSE Limited’s listing requirements.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the historical cost basis of
accounting with the exception of contingent consideration payable where the fair value
basis of accounting was applied and which is indicated in the individual accounting policies.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Rand, which is the Group’s
functional currency. These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.
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Significant accounting policies
1.1 Basis of consolidation
Business combination
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when
control is transferred to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is
generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain on bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expenses as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an
obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted
for within equity. Other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each
reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value are recognised in profit or loss.
The Group measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred, including the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquisition, less the
net recognised fair value of the identifiable assets acquired less the liabilities assumed,
all measured as of the acquisition date.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the effective date of control until the date on which control ceases.

Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interest are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.
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Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions.

Loss of control
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interest and other components
of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

Investments in equity-accounted investees
The Group’s interest in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in a joint venture
and an associate.
A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control whereby the Group
has rights to the net assets of the arrangement. An associate is an entity in which the
Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies.
Interests in the joint venture and associate are accounted for using the equity method.
They are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to
recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, where applicable, of equity-accounted
investees, until the date on which joint control or significant influence ceases.
An impairment loss in respect of an equity-accounted investee is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the investment with its carrying amount. An impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss, and is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investments to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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Assets held-for-sale
Non-current assets or, disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as
held-for-sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered principally through a sale
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the
asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group)
and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from
the date of classification.
When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all
of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as a disposal group held for
sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.
After the disposal takes place, the Group accounts for any retained interest in accordance with IAS 39.
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on
a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets on a
pro-rate basis, except that no loss is allocated to financial assets which continue to be
measured in accordance with the Group’s other accounting policies.
Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
are no longer amortised or depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer
equity-accounted. For the presentation of discontinued operations refer to note 13.
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Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and
cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which:
•

represents a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations;

•

is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business; or

•

is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to re-sale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the
operation meets the criteria to be classified as held-for-sale.
When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of profit or loss and OCI is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year. For the presentation of discontinued
operations refer to note 12.

1.2 Use of estimates, judgements and assumptions
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that may affect the application of
accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised and in any future period affected.
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Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the financial statements and estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements
where appropriate.

1.2.1 Loans and receivables
The Group assesses its loans and receivables for impairment at each reporting date.
In determining whether an impairment loss should be recognised in profit or loss, the
Group makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset as well as considering any objective evidence of impairment. The Group makes use of an allowance for
credit losses. Refer to note 6 and note 8.

1.2.2 Fair value measurement
‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in
the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has
access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement
of fair values, for both financial and non- financial assets and liabilities.
When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the
quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if
transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable input and minimise the use of
unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors
that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.
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If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and ask price, then the
Group measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is
normally the transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received.
If the Group determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market
for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation to the measurement , then the
financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference
between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently
that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of
the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable
market data or the transaction is closed out.

1.2.3 Impairment testing of non-financial assets
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets, including intangible assets, have been determined based on fair values less costs to sell. These
calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible
that the assumptions may change which may then impact our estimates and may then
require a material adjustment to the carrying value of tangible assets.

1.2.4 Deferred tax asset
The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets requires the
Group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income.
Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecasted cash flows from operations
and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future
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cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the
Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recognised at the reporting date could be
impacted. Refer to note 7.

1.2.5

Consolidation of Plastics Green Energy (Pty) Ltd (“PGE”)

Although the Group only owns 28.00% (2017: 26.67%) equity shares of PGE, the directors of the Group concluded that the Group has control over PGE and therefore PGE
has been consolidated. Refer to note 15 for the details of the judgements applied.

1.3 Property, plant and equipment
Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Land is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of land, plant and equipment is recognised in
profit or loss.
A second hand forklift is transferred to trading operations at its carrying amount when
it will be sold to a customer.
Buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated at cost less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic
benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of the items of buildings, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual values, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in profit or loss. Land is not depreciated.

114

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

The estimated useful lives of buildings, plant and equipment for current and comparative periods are as follows:
Item

Average useful life

Forklifts

8 Years

Furniture and fixtures

6 Years

IT equipment

3 Years

Motor vehicles

5 Years

Leasehold improvements

5 Years

Buildings

20 Years

Land

Not depreciated

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting
date and adjusted if appropriate. The depreciation commences when the asset is
available for use and ceases when the asset is derecognised.
The proceeds of second hand forklifts that are routinely sold when they cease to be
rented are recognised as revenue. Second hand forklifts are all held for rental and a
sale is only recognised when risks and rewards have been transferred in terms of a sale
transaction. These assets that are transferred to trading operations are processed at
their carrying values. Refer to note 2.

1.4 Intangible assets and goodwill
Intangible assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is
generally recognised in profit or loss. Goodwill is not amortised.
The estimated useful life of the intangible asset for current and comparative periods
is as follows:
Item

Average useful life

Software

3 Years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting
date, and adjusted if necessary. Refer to note 4.
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on business combinations is not amortised but is tested annually for
impairment losses, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill may be
impaired. Impairment losses recorded are not subsequently reversed. Gains and losses
on disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment
testing. Refer to note 3.

1.5 Financial instruments
1.5.1

Initial recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the groups consolidated financial position when the group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangement.
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Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value. For financial instruments which
are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial
measurement of the instrument.

1.5.2
1.5.2.1

Subsequent measurement
Financial assets

The Group’s financial instruments are classified as loans and receivables and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
1.5.2.2

Financial liabilities

All of the Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for the contingent consideration liability which
is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.

1.5.3

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have been
transferred and the company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

1.5.4

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the company assesses all financial assets, other than those at
fair value through profit or loss, to determine whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.
For amounts due to the company, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and default of payments are all considered
indicators of impairment.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
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Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable
amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the
date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except for equity investments classified as available-for-sale.
Impairment losses are also not subsequently reversed for available-for-sale equity investments which are held at cost because fair value was not determinable.
Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount
of the loss is recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When such assets
are written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

1.6 Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in
equity or in OCI.

1.6.1

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income
or loss for the year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of
prior years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of
the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to
income tax, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date.
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
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1.6.2

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used
for tax purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:
•

temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss;

•

temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future; and

•

taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount
of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full,
then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences,
are considered, based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions
are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be used.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary
differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.
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1.7 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

1.7.1

Finance leases

As lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial
position at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the statement of financial position as other financial liabilities.
The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction
of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance of the
liability.

1.7.2

Operating leases

As lessor
Operating lease income is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. The difference between the receipts recognised as revenue and the contractual
receipts is recognised as an operating lease asset.
As lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. The difference between the payments recognised as an expense and
the contractual payments is recognised as an operating lease liability.
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1.8 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the asset.
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs, is determined.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.
An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit and loss.
An entity assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are
estimated.
A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit and loss.

1.9 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of
inventories includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, and other costs
incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.
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Second hand forklifts are transferred from property, plant and equipment at their
carrying amounts when a sale occurs.

1.10 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

1.11 Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and that revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue is measured
at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of value-added tax.
Revenue is recognised on the following bases:
•

Sale of forklifts is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods are transferred to the buyer;

•

Rendering of services and maintenance relates to maintenance of forklifts and
corporate management and is recognised when the service has been provided;

•

Rental income arising from operating leases on forklift trucks is accounted for on a
straight-line basis over the lease term; and

•

Interest income is recognised on instalment sale agreements as interest accrues
using the effective interest method.

1.12 Finance income and finance costs
Finance income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.
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1.13 Earnings per share
The calculation of earnings per share is based on the profit or loss for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the period. Headline earnings per share is calculated in accordance with
Circular 4/2018 issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

1.14 Share-based payment transactions
Where the Group disposes of a portion of its shares to a Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) company at a discount to fair value, the transaction is considered to be a
share-based payment arrangement and is classified as an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction (in line with SAICA’s Financial Reporting Guide 2 - Accounting for
Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) Transactions).
The discount provided or value given is calculated in accordance with IFRS 2 and included in profit or loss as a share-based payment expense.

1.15 Share capital
Ordinary shares
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are recognised
as a deduction from equity. Income tax relating to the transaction costs of an equity
transaction is accounted for in accordance with IAS 12.

1.16 Operating profit
Operating profit is the result generated from the continuing principal revenue producing activities of the Group as well as other income and expenses related to operating
activities. Operating profit excludes net finance costs, share of profit of equity accounted investees and income taxes.
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1.17 Standards and interpretations not yet effective
A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January
2018 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted
the new or amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
The following standards were expected to have a material impact on the Group’s results however due to the IFRS 5 reclassification of LFS Assets, management have reassessed the following standards and do not expect these to have a material impact on
the Groups results:

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The standard is effective for period beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard
will be adopted by the Group for the reporting period commencing 1 December 2018.
IFRS 15 requires an entity to recognise revenue in such a manner as to depict the transfer of the goods or services to customers, at an amount representing the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The
standard has a 5-step process to be applied to all contracts with customers. The standard provides guidance for identifying the contract with the customer, identification
of the deliverables (performance obligations), determination of the transaction price
(including the treatment of variability in the transaction price, and significant financing
components), how to allocate the transaction price, and when to recognise revenue.
GAM has assessed its significant contracts with customers in accordance with IFRS 15.
The outcome of the assessment indicated that the pattern of revenue recognition will
remain unchanged under IFRS 15.

IFRS 16 Leases
The standard is effective for period beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard
will be adopted by the Group for the reporting period commencing 1 December 2019.
IFRS 16 requires a lessee to recognise a right of use asset and lease obligations for all
leases except for short-term leases, or leases of low value assets. A lessee measures its
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lease obligation at the present value of future lease payments, and recognises a right
of use asset initially measured at the same amount as the lease obligation including
costs directly related to entering into the lease. Right of use assets are subsequently
treated in a similar way to other assets such as property, plant and equipment or intangible assets dependent on the nature of the underlying item.
The Group has a property rental agreement in place. In accordance with the above, a
right of use asset and lease obligation associated to this rental would be recognised in
the statement of financial position. This will not have a material impact on the results
of the Group.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The standard is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard
will be adopted by the Group for the reporting period commencing 1 December 2018.
IFRS 9 provides guidance on the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities and replaces IAS 39. The standard establishes three
measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss. Classification of financial
assets into these categories is dependent on the entity’s business model (which depicts
its objectives with respect to the management of financial assets as a whole) and the
characteristics of the contractual cash flows of the specific financial asset. There were
no significant changes to the classification guidance for financial liabilities.
IFRS 9 introduces a new expected credit loss impairment model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39.
The Group has considered the design impairment models incorporating new principles such as 12-month expected credit losses, life time expected credit losses, forward
looking information and time value of money in order to comply with expected credit
loss impairments under IFRS 9, and found this to not have a material impact on the
results of the Group.

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

125

Standards and interpretations that are not expected to have a material impact on
the Group.
Standard

Details of Amendment

IFRS 3, Business

•

Combinations

Annual Improvements 2015 - 2017 Cycle:

Annual periods
beginning on or after
1 January 2019

Clarification that when an entity obtains
control of a business that is a joint operation,
it is required to remeasure previously held
interests in that business.
•

Definition of a Business: The amendments:
––

1 January 2020

confirmed that a business must include
inputs and a process, and clarified that:

––

the process must be substantive; and

––

the inputs and process must together
significantly contribute to creating
outputs.

––

narrowed the definitions of a business
by focusing the definition of outputs
on goods and services provided to
customers and other income from
ordinary activities, rather than on
providing dividends or other economic
benefits directly to investors or lowering
costs.

•

Added a test that makes it easier to
conclude that a company has acquired a
group of assets, rather than a business, if the
value of the assets acquired is substantially
all concentrated in a single asset or group of
similar assets.
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Standard

Details of Amendment

IFRS 10,

•

Annual periods
beginning on or after

Sale or Contribution of Assets between

The effective date

Consolidated

an Investor and its Associate or Joint

of this amendment

Financial

Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS

has been deferred

Statements

28): Narrow scope amendment address

indefinitely until

an acknowledged inconsistency between

further notice

the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in
IAS 28 (2011), in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture.
IAS 1,

•

Disclosure Initiative: The amendments

Presentation

clarify and align the definition of ‘material’

of Financial

and provide guidance to help improve

Statements

consistency in the application of that

1 January 2020

concept whenever it is used in IFRS
Standards.
IAS 8,

•

Disclosure Initiative: The amendments

Accounting

clarify and align the definition of ‘material’

Policies,

and provide guidance to help improve

Changes in

consistency in the application of that

Accounting

concept whenever it is used in IFRS

Estimates and

Standards.

1 January 2020

Errors
IAS 12 Income
Taxes

•

Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017

1 January 2019

Cycle: Clarification that all income tax
consequences of dividends should be
recognised in profit or loss, regardless how
the tax arises.
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Standard

Details of Amendment

IAS 23

•

Borrowing Costs

Disclosure Initiative: The amendments

Annual periods
beginning on or after
1 January 2019

clarify and align the definition of ‘material’
and provide guidance to help improve
consistency in the application of that
concept whenever it is used in IFRS
Standards.
Sale or contribution of assets between an

The effective date

Investments in

Investor and its associate or joint venture

of this amendment

associates and

(Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28):

has been deferred

joint ventures

Narrow scope amendment to address an

indefinitely until

acknowledged inconsistency between

further notice

IAS 28

•

the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in
IAS 28 (2011), in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture.
•

1 January 2018

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle:
Clarification that a venture capital
organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust
and similar entities may elect, at initial

1 January 2019

recognition, to measure investments in
an associate or joint venture at fair value
through profit or loss separately for each
associate or joint venture.
•

Long-term interest in Associates and Joint
Ventures: Clarification provided that an entity
should apply IFRS 9 to long-term interests in
an associate or joint venture that form part
of the net investment in the associate or joint
venture but to which the equity method is
not applied.

128

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Annual periods

Interpretations

beginning on or after

IFRIC 23 Un-

The interpretation specifies how an entity should

certainty over

reflect the effects of uncertainties in accounting

Income Tax

for income taxes.

1 January 2019

Treatments
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 November 2018

2. Property, plant and equipment
2018

Cost

depreciation

Carrying value

R’

R’

R’

14 180

(14 177)

3

IT equipment

250 162

(127 159)

123 003

Motor vehicles

464 886

(184 702)

280 184

Plant under construction

37 861 962

-

37 861 962

Leasehold improvements

3 883 340

(236 527)

3 646 813

13 000 000

-

13 000 000

2 400 000

-

2 400 000

57 874 530

(562 565)

57 311 965

Furniture and fittings

Land
Buildings

2017

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

R’

R’

R’

669 643 635

(270 682 114)

398 961 521

59 317

(58 836)

481

IT equipment

532 425

(362 113)

170 312

Motor vehicles

428 465

(89 591)

338 874

13 453 882

-

13 453 882

816 224

(98 560)

717 664

684 933 948

(271 291 214)

413 642 734

Forklifts
Furniture and fittings

Plant under construction
Leasehold improvements

130

Accumulated

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

131

operations*

2 400 000

48 134 540

-

413 642 734

Buildings

13 000 000

3 533 704

-

717 664

24 693 822

471 010

177 380

114 307

3 744 317

R’

Land

improvements

Leasehold

construction

13 453 882

338 874

Motor vehicles

Plant under

170 312

481

398 961 521

R’

(285 742)

-

-

-

(285 742)

-

-

-

-

R’

Disposals**

(323 156 891)

-

-

(349 941)

-

(405 617)

(143 795)

(108 698)

(322 148 840)

R’

(20 367 729)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(20 367 729)

R’

to trading

for-sale

Additions

assets held-

balance

IT equipment

fittings

Furniture and

Forklifts

2018

value opening

Transfers

Reclassified as

Carrying

Carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

(60 654 947)

-

-

(254 614)

-

(124 083)

(80 894)

(6 087)

(60 189 269)****

R’

Depreciation

value

57 311 965

2 400 000

13 000 000

3 646 813

37 861 962

280 184

123 003

3

-

R’

balance

closing

Carrying
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816 224
81 241 065

-

440 275 371

7 995 622

269 966

164 953

-

71 994 300

R’

Additions

(382 607)

-

-

-

-

-

(382 607)

R’

Impairment

(9 640 789)

-

(9 640 789)

-

-

-

-

R’

Disposals***

(31 780 646)

(66 069 660)

(98 560)

-

(47 325)

(23 472)

(1 738)

(65 898 565)

R’

**** Depreciation on forklifts is included in discontinued operations.

R’

413 642 734

717 664

13 453 882

338 874

170 312

481

398 961 521

*** Disposals of plant under construction relate to the derecognition of Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd as a subsidiary due to the loss of control (refer to note 22).

** Disposals of plant under construction to Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd, a joint venture of the Group.

-

-

-

-

-

(31 780 646)

R’

balance

Depreciation

operations*

closing

value

to trading

Carrying

Transfers

* Transfers to trading operations refer to the actual sales of new and used forklifts during the reporting period.

									

improvements

Leasehold

construction

15 099 049

116 233

Motor vehicles

Plant under

28 831

2 219

425 029 039

R’

balance

IT equipment

Furniture and fittings

Forklifts

2017

opening

value

Carrying

Land
Land will be used by the Group to further develop its plastic to oil and rubber to oil
pyrolysis operations.

Pledged as security
Land, buildings and forklifts to the value of R15 400 000 (2017: R - ) and R261 544 679 (2017:
R333 205 950) respectively are pledged as security for the loans as per note 16 and 19.

Commitments
There is no commitment at 30 November 2018 for property, plant and equipment.
Plant under construction
The Group commenced construction of various plants and the costs incurred up to the
reporting date totalled R37 861 962 (2017: R13 453 882).
No additional borrowing costs were capitalised and included in plant under construction costs for the period ended 30 November 2018. The cumulative capitalised borrowing costs included in plant construction costs amounted to R506 185 (2017: R506 185)
with a capitalisation interest rate of 12.5% (2017:12.5%) per annum.

3. Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiary at cost:

Goodwill

2018

2017

R’

R’

37 959 099

37 959 099
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Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill:
GAM management has determined Earthwize Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd (“EWEH”) to
be part of the “renewable energy” cash generating unit (“CGU”). The renewable energy CGU comprises Plastics Green Energy (Pty) Ltd, a subsidiary of EWEH, and EWEH
itself. The assumptions below have been applied to calculate the recoverable amount
of the CGU using an income approach.
The recoverable amount of the renewable energy CGU has been determined, based
on fair value less cost to sell, for the forecast period with the assistance of independent
engineers.
The fair value was determined by discounting the future cash flows generated from the
continuing use of the unit assuming that the production line will go live in 2019. The
calculation of fair value less cost of disposal was based on the following key assumptions:
•

The growth rate of 5% (2017:5%) applied is based on the production of oil price
appreciation for the forecast period of 10 years. A 10 year forecast period was used
to provide time for the CGU to achieve full production given the current stage of
development of the plant under construction.

•

A discount rate of 27.5% (2017:24.1%) was used. This discount rate is derived from
the CGU adjusted cost of equity. Adjustments to the cost of equity include small
stock and a premium on start-ups, significant growth expectations and a lack of
track record, as published by an independent source.

•

A growth rate of 4.5% (2017:4%) was applied to determine the terminal value at
the end of the projected forecast. The growth rate is based on the South African
economy’s long-term growth rate as published by an independent source, adjusted
by the growth rate expected by management. Management’s expected growth
rate is based on future trends in the renewable energy industry.

The values assigned to key assumptions represent management’s assessment of the renewable energy industry and are based on both external sources and internal sources.
Management does not expect there to be a possible change in any key assumptions to
cause the carrying amount to be less than its recoverable amount.
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4. Intangible asset
2018
Accumulated

Carrying

value

Cost

R’

R’

R’

-

-

-

-

Cost

Software

amortisation

Carrying

Software

2017

Carrying

R’

R’

R’

-

1 208 407

(384 243)

824 164

-

1 208 407

(384 243)

824 164

amortisation

value

Assets held
for sale

Amortisation

Additions

closing balance

R’

R’

R’

R’

R’

824 164

(618 118)

(206 046)

-

-

824 164

(618 118)

(206 046)

-

-

Carrying value

Assets held

for sale

Amortisation

Additions

closing balance

R’

R’

R’

R’

R’

1 075 074

-

(384 243)

133 333

824 164

1 075 074

-

(384 243)

133 333

824 164

opening balance

Software

Accumulated

value opening

balance

2018

2017

Carrying value

Carrying value

Commitment
There is no material commitment at 30 November 2018 for intangible assets.

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

135

5. Investment in equity-accounted investees
Details of the associate and joint venture
The following amounts represent the Group’s share of the aggregate carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities and income and expenses in the associate and joint venture.

Principle

activity

Name of business

Proportion of ownership

interest and voting rights

held by the Group

2018

2017

49.00%

-%

-%

49.00%

49.00%

44.35%

Indirect interest in associate
Concentrated
Heliosek (Pty) Ltd

solar power

Direct interest in associate
Heliosek (Pty) Ltd
Indirect interest in joint venture
Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd

Rubber

(Refer to note 22)

pyrolysis

The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the associate and joint venture’s financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS (Adjusted
by the Group for equity accounting purposes).
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(Pty) Ltd

Enviroprotek

in joint venture

Indirect interest

Heliosek (Pty) Ltd

associate

Direct interest in

2017

(Pty) Ltd

Enviroprotek

in joint venture

Indirect interest

Heliosek (Pty) Ltd

in associate

Indirect interest

2018

274 595

6 360 645

1 575 360

R’

R’

220 140

assets

Non-current

Current

assets

22 559 341

6 982 967

2 696 273

R’

R’

373 281

assets

Non-current

assets

Current

98 561

91 197

R’

equivalents

and cash

Cash

212 440

13 246

(7 325 267)

(2 563 171)

R’

liabilities

Current

(36 742 809)

(6 742 466)

R’

(1 350 583)

-

R’

liabilities

current

Non-

(5 207 765)

-

R’

liabilities

liabilities

equivalents
R’

Noncurrent

Current

Cash
and cash

343 530

69 580

R’

Revenue

1 069 968

-

R’

Revenue

1 963

-

R’

income

Interest

8 385

-

R’

income

Interest

(17 919)

(151 898)

R’

expense

Interest

(1 268 343)

(605 513)

R’

expense

Interest

321 265

145 849

R’

Taxation

2 467 214

-

R’

Taxation

Total

(764 299)

(376 876)

R’

loss

Comprehensive

Total

(7 126 220)

(1 795 340)

R’

loss

Comprehensive

Reconciliation of the above financial information to the carrying amount of the interests
in the associate and joint venture recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
2018

2017

R’

R’

3 659 815

1 864 475

49%

49%

1 793 309

913 593

Recognising losses to initial cost of investment

(1 793 260)

(913 544)

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest at cost

49

49

12 195 827

5 069 607

49%

44.35%

5 975 955

2 248 371

(5 771 043)

(2 043 459)

204 912

204 912

2018

2017

R’

R’

49

49

204 912

204 912

204 961

204 961

Associate:
Net liabilities
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest

Other adjustment:

Joint venture:
Net liabilities
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest

Other adjustment:
Recognising losses to the initial cost of the
investment
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest at cost

Unrecognised share of losses

Unrecognised share of losses of an associate for
the year
Unrecognised share of losses of a joint venture
for the year
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There were no contingent liabilities or commitments in the associate or the joint venture.
Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd has launched two rubber to oil pyrolysis plants which are in commission, and there are plans to launch a further two plants for commissioning in the
3rd quarter of 2019.
Heliosek (Pty) Ltd is launching its first small scale commercial Concentrated Solar Power
plant with commissioning planned for the 3rd quarter of 2019.
The principle place of business for the equity-accounted investees is 25 5th Avenue,
Vorsterkroon, Nigel.

6. Loans and advances to customers
2018

2017

R’

R’

19 570 674

30 386 688

(6 806 052)

(9 228 802)

12 764 622

21 157 886

(12 764 622)

-

-

21 157 886

3 102 629

-

-

4 883 700

Instalment sale agreements to customers - at
amortised cost
Instalment sale agreements transferred to trade
and other receivables

Instalment sale agreements to customers classified as assets held for sale

Unearned future finance income relating to
assets held for sale
Unearned future finance income
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Instalment sale agreements that are receivable within the next 12 months are included
in trade and other receivables (refer to note 8).
Loans and advances to customers past due but not impaired
Instalment sale agreements entered into with customers bear interest at a variable rate
and are linked to the prime interest rate. In terms of the Group’s credit policy management may on default use the forklift truck as collateral.
No instalment sale agreement entered into with customers are considered to be impaired.
The net carrying amount of instalment sale agreements entered into with customers is
considered to be a reasonable approximation of its fair value.
Refer to note 30 for risk management disclosures.
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7. Deferred tax
2018

2017

R’

R’

5 540 862

3 074 066

102 921

62 722

5 643 783

3 136 788

56 001

534 514

(40 806)

108 061

-

(43 421 511)

(1 831 951)

-

(1 816 756)

(42 778 936)

3 827 027

(39 642 148)

Deferred tax asset
Tax losses available for set off against future
taxable income
Temporary differences on other payables

Deferred tax asset/(liability)
Tax losses available for set off against future
taxable income
Temporary differences on other receivables and
payables
Temporary differences on forklifts
Capital gains tax

Net deferred tax asset/(liability)
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Note

(1 831 951)

(39 642 148)

-

-

(1 831 951)

R’

Acquisition

3 608 579

(43 421 510)

Forklifts

Tax losses

170 783

-

R’

balance

Opening

Accruals

Capital gains

ties) arise from the following:

Deferred tax assets/(liabili-

2018

Deferred tax reconciliation:

2 590 535

2 466 796

-

123 739

-

R’

operations

(2 558 596)

(374 851)

(965 418)

(1 218 327)

-

R’

operations

loss from

discontinued

continuing

loss from

in profit or

Recognised

in profit or

Recognised

13

45 269 187

(103 661)

44 386 928

985 920

-

R’

held for sale

Assets

classified as

3 827 027

5 596 863

-

62 115

(1 831 951)

R’

Closing balance

Opening

Recognised in

profit or loss

balance

R’

R’

R’

(268 531)

268 531

-

Accruals

460 358

(289 575)

170 783

Forklifts

(44 564 670)

1 143 160

(43 421 510)

6 005 463

(2 396 884)

3 608 579

(38 367 380)

(1 274 768)

(39 642 148)

2017

balance

Closing

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
arise from the following:
Capital gains

Tax losses

The deferred capital gain tax liability arose on consolidation through the acquisition
of Jabumart (Pty) Ltd. The transaction had certain conditions precedent of which the
final condition, being the transfer of a property into Jabumart (Pty) Ltd, was met on
11 December 2017 (refer to note 15).
Tax losses not recognised
The total estimated tax losses not recognised by the Group, which are available for set
off against future taxable income, is R243 461 (2017: R201 895).
Recognition of deferred tax asset
The Group recognised the amount of the deferred tax asset after assessing future profitability.
Management is confident that the Group will generate sufficient taxable profits in the
foreseeable future against which the Group can utilise the deferred tax asset.
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8. Trade and other receivables
2018

2017

R’

R’

29 447 917

24 657 523

6 806 052

9 228 802

-

5 659 002

2 269 785

2 307 156

38 523 754

41 852 483

(31 516 474)

-

7 007 280

41 852 483

Non-current asset

3 404 615

-

Current asset

3 602 665

41 852 483

7 007 280

41 852 483

Trade receivables
Current portion of instalment sale agreements
transferred from loans and advances to customers (Refer to note 6)
Deposit towards commitment
Other receivables

Recognised as assets held for sale

In 2017 the Company had a commitment towards the purchase of Jabumart (Pty) Ltd
subject to certain conditions precedent at 30 November 2017. A deposit of R5 659 002
was paid towards this commitment.
The carrying value of trade and other receivables is considered to be a reasonable
approximation of its fair value. The credit quality of the debtors not yet past due date
and not yet impaired is considered to be satisfactory based on our credit evaluation.
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Trade receivables past due date but not impaired
In terms of the credit policy management may, on default, use the forklift trucks as
collateral for trade receivables and instalment sale receivables.
At 30 November 2018, R11 973 563 (2017: R9 848 391) were past due but not impaired
of which R8 568 948 (2017: R5 496 309) relates to rental and maintenance income and
R3 404 615 (2017: R4 352 082) to corporate management services. The concentration
of credit risk on these debtors is limited due to the fact that the customer base is large
and unrelated. Policies and procedures are in place ensuring that sales occur only to
customers with an acceptable credit history.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:
2018

2017

R’

R’

1 month past due

2 153 159

335 878

2 months past due

1 799 763

855 196

3 months and more past due

8 020 641

8 657 317

11 973 563

9 848 391

The movement in the allowance for credit losses in respect of trade receivables
and instalment sale receivables during the period is as follows:
2018

2017

R’

R’

Opening balance

221 141

215 174

Recognised during the year

442 565

221 141

Utilised during the year

(221 141)

(215 174)

Closing balance

442 565

221 141

Refer to note 30 for risk management disclosures.
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9. Other financial assets

Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd (Refer to note 29)
Heliosek (Pty) Ltd (Refer to note 29)
Other loan receivable

2018

2017

R’

R’

33 007 356

16 137 495

6 699 687

5 145 441

-

223 548

39 707 043

21 506 484

(3 659 665)

-

36 047 378

21 506 484

These loans are unsecured, bear interest at
variable rates linked to prime and are repayable
on demand.

Impairment of Heliosek (Pty) Ltd loan
Current asset

The fair value of the loans approximates the carrying values as stated.
Management is confident that the successful commissioning of the rubber to oil pyrolysis plants in Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd and the plant under construction in Heliosek (Pty) Ltd
once commissioned, will generate sufficient profits in the foreseeable future against
which the Company will recover its loans to the equity-accounted investees. Refer to
note 30 for risk management disclosures.
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10. Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdraft
2018

2017

R’

R’

Bank balances

2 080 435

38 814 831

Short-term deposit

2 895 011

612 906

4 975 446

39 427 737

(6 150 000)

-

(1 174 554)

39 427 737

2018

2017

R’

R’

2 208 405

1 060 120

2 208 405

1 060 120

Consists of:

Recognised as assets held-for-sale
Current (liability)/ asset

Refer to note 30 for risk management disclosures.

11. Inventories

Raw materials

Raw materials consisted of inventories for renewable energy manufacturing.
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12. Discontinued operations
Asset finance business
The Group has classified its asset finance business as a disposal group held-for-sale in
terms of IFRS 5. The asset finance business, being LFS Assets (Pty) Ltd, relates to the
rentals and maintenance segment and the sale of forklifts segment. The Group has
recognised an impairment loss on initial classification of the asset finance business as
held-for-sale at 30 November 2018.
The results of the discontinued operations included in the profit or loss are set out
below. The comparative profit and cash flows from discontinued operations have been
re-presented to include those operations classified as discontinued in the current year.
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2018

2017

R’

R’

146 870 858

197 403 529

(106 688 703)

(141 224 250)

40 182 155

56 179 279

366 857

430 341

Operating expenses

(13 383 108)

(16 622 024)

Income from operations

27 165 904

39 987 596

(21 987 528)

(29 839 103)

5 178 376

10 148 493

(1 584 111)

(2 760 269)

3 594 265

7 388 224

(43 270 400)

-

(39 676 135)

7 388 224

91 533 662

104 627 661

(663 008)

151 880

(89 311 282)

(106 800 733)

1 559 372

(2 021 192)

Note
Profit for the year from discontinued
operations:
Revenue

20

Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income

Finance costs

21

24

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

25

Profit for the year from

discontinued operations

(attributable to owners of the parent)
Impairment loss
(Loss)/profit for the year from
discontinued operations

(attributable to owners of the parent)
Summarised Statement of Cash Flows
from discontinued operations:

Net cash inflow from operating activities
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing
activities
Net cash outflow from financing activities
Net cash inflow/(outflow) for the period
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13. Assets classified as held-for-sale
At the reporting date, the directors of the Company valued the assets classified as
held-for-sale and the liabilities associated with the assets held-for-sale at fair value less
costs to sell being R67,8 million, based on the subscription price to the shares of the
asset finance business as at 1 February 2019. This is lower than the carrying amount
of the asset finance business, and accordingly an impairment loss was recognised on
initial classification of the asset finance business as held-for-sale on 30 November 2018.
The transaction is consistent with the Group’s long-term strategy to focus its activities
on the alternative energy market. The major classes of assets and liabilities of the asset
finance business at the reporting date are as follows:

2018
Note
Property, plant and equipment

279 969 098

Intangible asset

535 511

Loans and advances to customers

6

12 764 622

Trade and other receivables

8

31 516 474

Cash and cash equivalents

10

6 150 000

Assets classified as held-for-sale

330 935 705

Loans payable

16

194 495 221

Deferred tax liability

13

45 269 187

Trade and other payables

18

23 292 509

Liabilities associated with assets held-for-sale
Net assets of disposal group held-for-sale
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R’

263 056 917
67 878 788
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14. Share capital
Authorised:
1 000 000 000 Ordinary shares at no par value
1 000 000 000 Class A (fixed rate), 1 000 000 000 Class B (zero rate), 1 000 000 000
Class C (variable rate), five year, redeemable, convertible, non-voting, non-participating preference shares at no par value.

There are 924 340 931 (2017: 926 518 754) unissued ordinary shares in terms of the
memorandum of incorporation.
2018

2017

2018

2017

Number of

Number of
shares

R’

R’

73 481 246

54 157 575

96 999 130

57 207 811

2 177 823

19 323 671

3 837 841

39 791 319

75 659 069

73 481 246

100 836 971

96 999 130

shares

Issued:
Opening balance
Issued
Closing balance

Issued share capital consists of 75 659 069 (2017: 73 481 246) ordinary shares at no
par value.
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15. Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest
Composition of the Group
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the reporting date are as follows:
Name

%

LFS Assets (Pty) Ltd

100

Holding

Activity

Direct

Asset finance
(Discontinued operation)

LFS Assets Namibia (Pty) Ltd

100

Indirect

Asset finance
(Discontinued operation)

GAM New Energy (Pty) Ltd

100

Direct

Renewable energy

Total Rubber Recycle (Pty) Ltd

100

Indirect

Rubber to oil pyrolysis

Earthwize Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd

100

Direct

Plastic to oil pyrolysis

Plastics Green Energy (Pty) Ltd

28

Indirect

Plastic to oil pyrolysis

Jabumart (Pty) Ltd

100

Direct

Property holding

Subsidiary acquired
The Company acquired all the shares in issue of Jabumart (Pty) Ltd (“Jabumart”) for
a consideration of R6 346 402. The transaction had certain conditions precedent of
which the final condition, being the transfer of a property into Jabumart, was met on
11 December 2017. Jabumart does not constitute a business combination as there was
no set of activities in the company up to the date of transfer.
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Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition:
2018
R’
Non-current assets
Investment property

15 400 000

Non-current liabilities
Loan payable

(7 221 647)

Deferred tax liability

(1 831 951)
6 346 402
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72.00%

2018

73.33%

2017

235 920
(537 157)

(2 093 648)

(773 077)

2017

(68 301)

(2 025 347)

2018

Profit/(loss) allocated to

non-controlling interests

30 113 908

-

30 113 908

2018

34 022 502

1 883 247

32 139 255

2017

interests

Accumulated non-controlling

The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling interest is set out below.

recognised for the current reporting period before Global acquired their interests in November 2018.

The profit or loss allocated to individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests related to their portion of the interests

The principle place of business is 25 5th Avenue, Vorsterkroon, Nigel.

with non-controlling interests

Individually immaterial subsidiaries

Plastics Green Energy (Pty) Ltd

Name of business

interest

by non-controlling

Percentage held

Subsidiary with material non-controlling interest

2018

2017

R’

R’

5 676 002

32 817 858

Non-current assets

40 716 782

12 001 298

Current liabilities

(4 964 000)

(652 840)

41 428 784

44 166 316

Equity attributable to owners of the company

11 256 125

12 027 061

Non-controlling interest

30 172 659

32 139 255

3 900

-

(4 610 401)

(2 686 200)

Finance income

914 465

1 181 255

Income tax benefit

954 543

431 226

(2 737 493)

(1 073 719)

(823 541)

(300 642)

(1 913 952)

(773 077)

(911 395)

(3 360 973)

(26 997 462)

(12 941 611)

-

46 400 000

Cash at the beginning of the period

30 097 416

-

Net cash inflow

2 188 559

30 097 416

Plastics Green Energy (Pty) Ltd
Summarised Statement of Financial Position:
Current assets

Total equity

Summarised Statement of Financial Performance:
Other income
Operating expenses

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year
Loss and total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Equity holders of the company
Non-controlling interest

Summarised Statement of Cash Flows:
Net cash outflow from operating activities
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Net cash inflow from financing activities
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The Group owns 28.00% (2017: 26.67%) equity shares of Plastics Green Energy (Pty)
Ltd (“PGE”). The directors of the Group concluded that the Group has control over PGE
and PGE is consolidated in these financial statements due to the following reasons:
•

the Group’s directors are the only appointees to the PGE board of directors at
reporting date;

•

PGE is dependent on GAM for providing key management services and vital
expertise;

•

GAM is the only appointee of key management personnel and the PGE business
is run by GAM appointed personnel;

•

the Group is responsible to secure PGE’s suppliers and customers; and

•

the Group’s exposure to variable returns disproportionately exceeds the exposure
of other investors due to the significant management fee being charged by GAM.

Non-controlling interest
Acquisition of non-controlling interest without change in control
In November 2018, the Group bought a 4.75% interest in Earthwize Energy Holdings
(Pty) Ltd (“EWEH”) and a 9.5% interest in Total Rubber Recycle (Pty) Ltd (“TRR”), increasing its shareholding to 100% in each entity. The payment of R3 127 484 was made
by issuing 905 942 GAM shares at R2.10 per share, R1 million cash and settlement of
a loan of R225 006.
GAM shares were not actively trading at date of acquisition, thus the fair value was not
based on JSE prices but was determined using a valuation technique, i.e. a discounted cash flow method. The method does not take into account expected dividends.
The fair value of the GAM shares was determined by discounting the future free cash
flows generated by the Group.
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A total amount of R1 883 247 consisting of R1 814 946 (being the proportionate share
of the carrying amount of the net assets) and R68 301 (being their respective portions
of loss allocated to non-controlling interest during the 2018 financial period) of EWEH
and TRR have been transferred from non-controlling interest to retained earnings and
profit or loss respectively. The total difference of R1 312 538 between non-controlling
interest and the consideration paid has been debited to retained earnings.
In May 2017 the Group, together with Futuregrowth Asset Management (Pty) Ltd,
subscribed to 55% and 45% of the total issued shares in PGE for a consideration of
R26,5 million and R20.5 million respectively, reducing the Group’s interest to 55%. The
total proceeds from the subscription of R47 million was received in cash. An amount of
R19 708 015 (being the proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net assets of
PGE) has been transferred to non-controlling interest.
In November 2017, African Rainbow Capital (Pty) Ltd (“ARC”) bought 219 shares
in PGE for R12 702 000 which was received in cash. Prior to this agreement, GAM
effectively owned 52.39% (95.25% X 55%) in PGE. The sale of shares to ARC resulted
in GAM effectively owning 26.67% (95.25% X 28%) in PGE. An amount of R12 431 240
(being the proportionate share of the carrying value of the net assets of PGE) has been
transferred to non-controlling interest.
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16. Loans payable

Mercantile Bank

2018

2017

R’

R’

105 070 045

150 681 603

-

1 388 860

12 168 437

8 157 716

86 118 072

122 698 443

203 356 554

282 926 622

Interest at a variable rate linked to prime
Monthly capital repayment at 30 November: R3
033 375 (2017: R4 157 094)
Rand Merchant Bank
Interest at a variable rate linked to prime
Monthly capital repayment at 30 November: R (2017: R494 702)
Nedbank
Interest at a variable rate linked to prime
Monthly capital repayment at 30 November:
R173 305 (2017: R285 543)
Standard Bank
Interest at a variable rate linked to prime
Monthly capital repayment at 30 November: R1
760 928 (2017: R2 684 075)

Liabilities associated with assets classified as
held for sale

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Loans at amortised cost

158

(194 495 221)

-

8 861 333

282 926 622

8 255 206

192 623 561

606 127

90 303 061

8 861 333

282 926 622
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The borrowing from continuing operations arose from the purchase of land and buildings through the Nedbank facility.
This loan from continuing operations is secured over the land and buildings (refer to
note 2) and is repayable in monthly instalments over period of 119 months.
The carrying amount of the loan approximates its fair value. The interest rate is market
related. Refer to note 30 for risk management disclosures.

17. Contingent consideration payable
2018

2017

R’

R’

GAM ordinary shares

304 374

546 444

Cash consideration

440 979

774 579

745 353

1 321 023

The contingent consideration payable forms part of the consideration transferred in
acquiring the controlling interest in Earthwize Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd. GAM will allot
shares and make a cash payment of R4 559 891 if certain performance criteria are met
within 6 years (from December 2015) of acquiring the majority interest in Earthwize
Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd.
The fair value of the contingent consideration payable is categorised as level 3 in the
fair value hierarchy.
Refer to note 30 for risk management disclosures.
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18. Trade and other payables
2018

2017

R’

R’

Trade payables

28 265 103

18 727 578

Other payables

4 145 740

1 541 692

32 410 843

20 269 270

(23 292 509)

-

9 118 334

20 269 270

Liabilities associated with assets held-for-sale

The fair value of the trade and other payables approximates the carrying value due to
its short-term nature.
Refer to note 30 for risk management disclosures.

19. Other financial liabilities

Other loans payable

2018

2017

R’

R’

-

3 154 763

12 968 088

-

12 968 088

3 154 763

12 968 088

3 154 763

The loans are unsecured, bear interest at a rate
linked to prime and are repayable on demand.
African Rainbow Capital Ltd
The loan is secured, bears interest at a rate
linked to prime and is repayable on demand.

Current liabilities
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Included in other loans payable is a cash consideration payable for the acquisition of
the 5% interest in Earthwize Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd.
The African Rainbow Capital Ltd loan is secured over property, plant and equipment
(refer to note 2).
The fair values of the loans are considered to approximate the carrying values due to
being payable on demand. Refer to note 30 for risk management disclosures.

20. Revenue
2018

2017

R’

R’

Sale of forklifts

15 569 917

32 930 636

Rental income

104 954 501

124 009 068

23 633 276

36 971 113

Rendering of services

3 297 807

2 400 900

Interest received (trading)

2 713 164

1 574 789

150 168 665

197 886 506

(146 870 858)

(197 403 529)

3 297 807

482 977

2018

2017

R’

R’

575 670

1 230 129

1 172 711

1 115 371

1 748 381

2 345 500

(366 857)

(430 341)

1 381 524

1 915 159

Maintenance of forklift trucks

Recognised as part of discontinued operations

21. Other income

Fair value gain on contingent consideration
payable (Refer to note 27)
Sundry income

Recognised as part of discontinued operations
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22. Gain on loss of control of subsidiary
In the prior reporting period African Rainbow Capital Ltd (“ARC”) subscribed for
9 614 shares in Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd (“EPT”) for R9 614 in May 2017. Prior to the ARC
subscription, GAM effectively owned 82.12% (90.50% X 90.74%) in EPT. Due to GAM
having control, EPT was consolidated. The subscription by ARC resulted in GAM effectively owning 44.35% (90.50% X 49%) in EPT. GAM lost control of EPT through certain
reserved matters requiring unanimous consent by both GAM and ARC and, as a result,
the investment is equity-accounted for as an investment in a joint venture. The change
in control resulted in the following gain:
2017
R’
Fair value of remaining interest (Refer to note 5)

204 912

Non-controlling interest
Net liabilities disposed
Profit on loss of control

(186 254)
(3 728 080)
(3 709 422)

The fair value was determined using a market approach method. The method takes
into account the loans payable. The fair value of an EPT share was determined by using
an enterprise value/sales multiple.
The calculation of the fair value was based on the following key assumptions:
•

The revenue forecast for the current period; and

•

A weighted average enterprise value/sales multiple as published by an
independent source.
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23. Operating loss
2018

2017

R’

R’

1 120 455

1 056 904

12 580

149 321

1 133 035

1 206 225

272 250

171 095

Impairment of other financial assets

3 659 665

-

Employee benefits

7 136 519

4 018 592

-

1 040 552

2018

2017

R’

R’

23 476 423

30 582 104

23 476 423

30 582 104

(21 987 528)

(29 839 103)

1 488 895

743 001

Operating loss for the period from
continuing operations includes:
Operating lease expenses
Premises

Contractual amounts
Equipment
Contractual amounts

Depreciation

Equity-settled share-based payments (Refer to
note 36)

24. Finance costs

Finance costs on interest-bearing borrowings

Recognised as part of discontinued operations

Refer to note 2 for borrowing costs capitalised.
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25. Income tax expense
South African normal tax
Components of the income tax expense

2018

2017

R’

R’

Current
Normal tax

14 491

365 046

Deferred

(31 939)

1 274 768

Tax per the profit and loss for the year

(17 448)

1 639 814

(1 584 111)

(2 760 269)

(121 548)

-

(1 723 107)

(1 120 455)

28.00%

28.00%

0.67%

7.37%

Equity-settled share-based payment expense

-

3.61%

Gain on loss of control of subsidiary

-

(12.87%)

Disallowed expenses

(7.28%)

(0.91%)

Effective rate

21.39%

25.20%

From discontinued operations
Withholding tax from discontinuing operations
Income tax benefit recognised in profit or loss

Reconciliation of income tax rate
Standard tax rate
Unrecognised tax losses
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26. Earnings per share
2018

2017

R’

R’

(49 670 105)

6 430 804

2 093 648

537 157

(47 576 457)

6 967 961

39 676 135

(7 388 224)

(7 900 322)

(420 263)

Impairment of other financial assets

3 659 665

-

Gain on loss of control of subsidiary

-

(3 709 422)

-

352 395

(4 240 657)

(3 777 290)

(39 676 135)

7 388 224

43 270 400

-

Impairment of used forklifts

-

382 607

Tax effect on the impairment of used forklifts

-

(107 130)

3 594 265

7 663 701

(646 392)

3 886 411

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the year
Adjusted for:
Non-controlling interest
Basic (loss)/earnings
Adjusted for:
Loss/(profit) for the year from discontinued
operations used in the calculation of basic
earnings
Basic earnings from continuing operations
Adjusted for:

Non-controlling interest on gain on change in
control
Headline earnings from continuing operations
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued
operations
Adjusted for:
Impairment loss on initial classification as
discontinued operations

Headline earnings from discontinued
operations

Headline earnings from continuing and
discontinued operations

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

165

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2018

2017

R’

R’

74 007 421

64 216 472

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents)

2018

2017

R’

R’

From continuing operations

(10.7)

(0.7)

From discontinued operations

(53.6)

11.5

From continuing and discontinued operations

(64.3)

10.8

Headline earnings/ (loss) per share (cents)

2018

2017

R’

R’

(5.7)

(5.9)

4.9

11.9

(0.8)

6.0

From continuing operations
From discontinuing operations
From continuing and discontinued operations

There are no instruments in issue that would cause a dilutive effect.
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27. Cash generated from operations
2018

2017

R’

R’

(11 717 077)

8 070 618

Finance income

(2 853 802)

(1 574 791)

Finance costs

23 476 423

30 582 104

61 067 039

66 069 660

-

382 607

Impairment of other financial assets

3 659 665

-

Gain on loss of control of subsidiary

-

(3 709 422)

(575 670)

(1 230 129)

-

1 040 552

trading operations

20 367 729

31 780 646

Inventories

(1 148 285)

1 936 903

Trade and other receivables

11 724 993

(5 488 882)

Trade and other payables

11 341 573

(10 403 197)

115 342 588

117 456 669

(Loss)/profit before tax from operations
Adjusted for:

Adjusted for non-cash transactions:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Fair value gain on contingent consideration
payable (Refer to note 21)
Equity-settle share based payment expenses
Changes in working capital
Transfer from property, plant and equipment to
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28. Tax benefit

Balance at the beginning of the period
Current tax expense recognised in profit or loss
Balance at the end of the period

2018

2017

R’

R’

1 789 561

46 200

(14 491)

(365 046)

4 708

1 789 561

1 779 778

1 470 715

29. Related parties
Relationships
Shareholders:

Insure Group Managers Ltd
African Rainbow Capital Ltd

Fellow group companies of Insure Group

Inshare (Pty) Ltd

Managers Ltd:

Reshare (Pty) Ltd
Ocean Crest Trading 11 (Pty) Ltd
Ericode (Pty) Ltd
Africaneur (Pty) Ltd
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Joint venture:

Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd

Associate:

Heliosek (Pty) Ltd

Subsidiaries:

Refer to note 15

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Related party transactions were as follows:
2018

2017

R’

R’

Other financial assets (Refer to note 9)

33 007 356

16 137 495

Loan advanced

14 122 782

16 137 495

Finance income

(1 268 332)

-

(58 269)

(77 255)

Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd

Rental income
Management fee received

(1 686 000)

(300 000)

Trade receivable

1 061 079

-

Rental and recoveries received

1 061 079

-

Other financial assets (Refer to note 9)

3 040 022

5 145 441

Loan advanced

4 077 777

4 010 391

Heliosek (Pty) Ltd

Loan provided against (Refer to note 9)

(3 659 665)

-

Finance income

(605 512)

(96 327)

Management fee received

(648 000)

(600 000)

3 404 615

4 352 082

718 028

1 054 455

-

12 702 000

Ericode (Pty) Ltd
Trade receivable
Rent paid
African Rainbow Capital Ltd
Proceeds from part disposal of subsidiary
Other financial liabilities

(12 968 088)

-

Finance cost

468 088

214 835

Management fee

240 000

100 000

-

177 156

482 000

1 069 000

564 250

-

Ocean Crest Trading 11 (Pty) Ltd
Rent expense
Reshare (Pty) Ltd
Management fee
Inshare (Pty) Ltd
Management fee
Related party transactions are at arm’s length.
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Key management personnel compensation comprised:
2018

2017

Services*

Services*

R’

R’

GK Cunliffe

365 385

365 385

GT Magomola

120 000

120 000

AJ Naidoo

120 000

120 000

MJ Reyneke

120 000

50 000

NB Matyolo

120 000

50 000

CJP Cilliers

97 000

-

1 654 266

1 558 148

MCC van Ettinger

675 550

600 000

WP Basson

969 280

893 979

4 241 481

3 757 512

Non-Executive

Executive
N Penzhorn

Total
*Services only include a guaranteed fixed remuneration.

Directors’ interest in the issued ordinary shares
As at 30 November 2018, the directors’ interests were as follows:
2018
Beneficial

2017

Indirect R’

%*

Indirect R’

%*

N Penzhorn

4 880 852

6.45

4 334 404

5.90

MCC van Ettinger

5 706 051

7.54

5 706 051

7.77

10 586 903

13.99

10 040 455

13.67

Total

* Based on 75 659 069 (2017: 73 481 246), being the total number of shares in issue.
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30. Risk management
Financial risk management
The Company’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The board of directors has established the risk management committee, which is responsible for developing and
monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The Committee reports regularly to
the Board of Directors on its activities.
The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risk
faced by The Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks
and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly
to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group aims to
maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees
understand their roles and obligations.
The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the
Group’s risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the
risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.
The Group’s activities expose it to the following financial risks: market risk (interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The same policies were applied
in the prior year.
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Categories of financial instruments at reporting date were as follows:
Financial
assets at

2018

fair value

through prof-

financial
asset

Total

R’

R’

R’

R’

receivables
Note

Non-

Loans and

it or loss

Financial assets:
Other financial assets

9

36 047 378

-

-

36 047 378

Trade and other receivables

8

5 717 270

-

1 290 010

7 007 280

41 764 648

-

1 290 010

43 054 658

liability at

amortised

through prof-

financial
liability

Total

R’

R’

R’

R’

-

745 353

-

745 353

liabilities at

cost

2018
Note

Financial

Financial

fair value

it or loss

Non-

Financial liabilities:
Contingent consideration

17

payable
Loans payable

16

8 861 333

-

-

8 861 333

Other financial liabilities

19

12 968 088

-

-

12 968 088

Trade and other payables

18

9 075 716

-

42 618

9 118 334

Bank overdraft

10

172

1 174 554

-

-

1 174 554

32 079 691

745 353

42 618

32 867 662
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2017
Note

Loans and
receivables

Financial
assets at
fair value
through
profit or
loss

Nonfinancial
asset

Total

R’

R’

R’

R’

21 157 886

-

-

21 157 886

21 506 484

-

-

21 506 484

40 022 014

-

1 830 469

41 852 483

39 427 737

-

-

39 427 737

122 114 121

-

1 830 469

123 944 590

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Financial
liability at
fair value
through
profit or
loss

Nonfinancial
liability

Total

R’

R’

R’

R’

-

1 321 023

-

1 321 023

282 926 622

-

-

282 926 622

3 154 763

-

-

3 154 763

Financial assets:
Loans and advances to

6

customers
Other financial assets

9

Trade and other receiv-

8

ables
Cash and cash

10

equivalents

2017
Note
Financial liabilities:
Contingent considera-

17

tion payable
Loans payable

16

Other financial liabil-

19

ities
Trade and other payables

18

19 993 156

-

276 114

20 269 270

306 074 541

1 321 023

276 114

307 671 678

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

173

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other
financial assets. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking
damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Group manages liquidity risk through ongoing review of future commitments,
credit facilities and operations. In addition, the obligations are met through the renting
of land and buildings (which are classified as non-current assets). Management is confident that this will result in the Group being able to meet future obligations.
Land and buildings are financed with a bank institution, over approximately 10 years.
The assets are classified as non-current assets and the liability is disclosed as either
non-current or current (payable within one year). Current assets only get raised as rentals are raised resulting in the current assets being less than the current liabilities.
In addition, the Group maintains a R5 million overdraft facility that is unsecured. Interest is payable at a rate linked to prime.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities consisting of non-derivative
financial liabilities only, into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date including estimated interest
payments. The interest payments on variable rate loan in the table below reflect market forward interest rates at the reporting date and these amounts may change as the
market interest rates change. The future cashflows on contingent consideration may be
different from the amount in the below table as the interest rates or relevant conditions
underlying the contingencies change. Except for these liabilities, it is not expected that
the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at
significantly different amounts. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
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2018

and 5 years

Between 2

Over 5

R’

R’

R’

R’

628 493

689 114

2 549 736

5 320 972

-

-

745 353

-

1 year

Note
Loans payable

16

Contingent consideration

17

payable

Between
years

Less than

1 and 2

years

Other financial liabilities

19

12 968 088

-

-

-

Trade and other payables

18

9 075 716

-

-

-

Bank overdraft

10

1 174 554

-

-

-

2017

and 5 years

Between 2

Over 5

R’

R’

R’

R’

97 596 150

62 472 541

145 774 987

-

1 year

Note
Loans payable

16

Contingent consideration

17

payable

Between
years

Less than

1 and 2

years

-

-

-

1 321 023

Other financial liabilities

19

3 154 763

-

-

-

Trade and other payables

18

19 993 156

-

-

-
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Interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the management of the Group is as follows:

Nominal amount

2018

2017

R’

R’

36 047 378

82 092 107

(13 499 058)

(308 998 441)

22 548 320

(226 906 334)

Variable-rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points (bp) in interest rates at the reporting
date would have increased (decreased) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This
analysis assumes that all variables remain constant.

Cash flow sensitivity

2018

2017

R’

R’

Variable-rate instruments
100 bp increase

162 348

1 633 726

100 bp decrease

(162 348)

(1 633 726)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents, loans advanced, other financial assets and receivables.
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.
The Group only deposits short term cash surpluses with major banks of high quality
credit standing. The Group had a bank overdraft of R1 174 554 at 30 November 2018
and cash and cash equivalents of R39 427 737 at November 2017.
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Trade and other receivables consist of management charges and operating rental income in 2018, and management charges, operating rental income and maintenance
contracts in 2017. At 30 November 2018 there is one debtor totalling R3 404 615
exceeding 5% of the total debtors’ book and at 30 November 2017 there were three
debtors totalling R12 782 343 exceeding 5% of the total debtors’ book.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each counterparty. However, management also considered the factors that may
influence the credit risk of its counterparty base, including the default risk associated
with the industry in which the counterparty operates.
The credit management committee has established a credit policy under which each
new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard
payment and delivery is offered. The Group’s review includes external ratings, if they
are available, financial statements, credit agency information and industry information.
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk though its credit granting procedures and
rigorous monitoring. Financial instruments impaired are detailed in note 8 and note 9.
Financial assets exposed to credit risk at reporting date were as follows:
2018

2017

Note

R’

R’

Loans and advances to customers

6

-

21 157 886

Other financial assets

9

36 047 378

21 506 484

Trade and other receivables

8

5 717 270

40 022 014

Cash and cash equivalents

10

-

39 427 737
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Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
For financial assets recognised at fair value, disclosure is required of a fair value hierarchy which reflects the significance of the inputs used to make the measurements.
Level 3 applies inputs which are not based on observable market data.

Financial liability

Note

2018

2017

R’

R’

1 321 023

2 551 152

Level 3
Contingent consideration payable:
Opening balance
GAM shares

17

(242 070)

(1 178 123)

Cash consideration

17

(333 600)

(52 006)

745 353

1 321 023

Closing balance

Sensitivity analysis
An increase in the probability of achieving the target as indicated below would have
increased/ (decreased) non-current liabilities and profit or loss by the amounts shown
below. This analysis is based on the probability that the target internal rate of return
would be met. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular the discount
rate, remain constant.
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2018

Non-current
liability

Profit or loss

R’

R’

25% strengthening

556 691

(556 691)

50% strengthening

1 113 383

1 113 383)

Contingent consideration
Probability:

2017

Non-current
liability

Profit or loss

R’

R’

25% strengthening

278 085

(278 085)

50% strengthening

608 340

(608 340)

Contingent consideration
Probability:

A weakening of the probability against achieving the target would have had an equal
but opposite effect on the above probabilities to the amounts shown above, on the
basis that all other variables remain constant.

Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The capital structure of the company consists of debt, which includes the borrowings,
cash and cash equivalents and equity as presented in the statement of financial position.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new shares
or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group monitors capital on the basis of cash flows.
There are no loan covenants imposed to meet borrowing requirements.
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31. Segment report
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing the performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive management committee that
makes strategic decisions.
Segment revenue, segment expenses and segment results include arm’s-length transfers between business segments. Such transfers are accounted for at competitive
market prices charged to unaffiliated customers for similar goods. Those transfers are
eliminated on consolidation.
All segment revenue and expenses are directly attributed to the segment. Segment
assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of operating
cash, trade receivables and property, plant and equipment, net of allowances. Segment
liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of trade payables.
The income format reflects the basis on which the Group reports its segment information.
Segment reporting is not presented on a geographical basis as it is impractical.
Rentals and maintenance:

This segment reflects rentals and maintenance
income earned from customers which is classified as
discontinued operations.

Sale of forklifts:

This segment reflects sales income earned from customers which is classified as discontinued operations.

Renewable energy:

This segment reflects operational expenses incurred
in developing the renewable energy sector.

Other:

This segment reflects project management, corporate
services and any other income and expenses.
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(60 852 495)

(2 610 140)

Income tax expense
benefit/ (expense)

Depreciation and
impairment

(43 270 400)

Loss on re-classification to discontinued
operations

(35 904 352)

(13 016 251)

Operating expense and
other income

Loss after tax

(21 987 528)

Finance costs

-

44 979 967

Gross profit/(loss)

Finance income

(98 305 417)

Cost of sales

-

(3 771 783)

1 026 029

-

-

-

-

(4 797 812)

(20 367 729)

15 569 917

R’

R’

143 285 384

Sale of forklifts

Rentals and maintenance

Revenue

2018

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

11 984 443

(11 984 443)

R’

Intergroup

Discontinued operations

(60 852 495)

(39 676 135)

(1 584 111)

(43 270 400)

(13 016 251)

(21 987 528)

-

40 182 155

(106 688 703)

146 870 858

R’

Total

-

(9 497 977)

1 421 566

-

(14 253 604)

(2 935 999)

2 194 160

4 075 900

-

4 075 900

R’

Renewable
energy

(272 240)

(495 993)

301 541

-

(10 268 566)

(1 488 896)

3 595 642

7 364 286

-

7 364 286

R’

Other

-

-

-

-

8 142 379

2 936 000

(2 936 000)

(8 142 379)

-

(8 142 379)

R’

Intergroup

Continuing operations

(272 240)

(9 993 970)

1 723 107

-

(16 379 791)

(1 488 895)

2 853 802

3 297 807

-

3 297 807

R’

Total

(270 246 389)

(224 977 202)

(45 269 187)

Total segment liabilities

Segment liabilities

Deferred tax liability

-

331 117 809

Segment assets

Deferred tax asset

331 117 809

-

4 873 913

Total segment assets

Investment in equity-accounted investees

Additions to property
plant and equipment

Additional information

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

7 189 472

7 189 472

-

(182 104)

(182 104)

-

-

(45 269 187)

(217 787 730)

(263 056 917)

-

330 935 705

330 935 705

-

4 873 913

-

(77 695 117)

(77 695 117)

5 643 783

86 522 866

92 166 649

204 961

27 760 941

(10 737 936)

(31 707 542)

(42 445 478)

-

194 690 250

194 690 250

-

15 499 686

8 921 180

76 530 289

85 451 469

-

(140 474 028)

(140 474 028)

-

-

(1 816 756)

(32 872 370)

(34 689 126)

5 643 783

140 739 088

146 382 871

204 961

43 260 627

Profit/(loss) after tax

Deferred tax liability

Segment liability

Total segment liabilities
-

(311 908 919)

(51 700 116)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(363 609 035)

-

456 020 000

Segment assets

Deferred tax asset

456 020 000

-

71 994 300

(66 281 172)

892 995

6 495 229

Total segment assets

Investment in equity
accounted investees

Additions to property
plant and equipment

Additional information

Depreciation and impairment

(227 708)

(2 532 561)

-

(16 191 683)

Income tax expense
benefit/(expense)

-

(29 839 103)

Finance costs

Operating expense and
other income

1 120 703

(31 809 933)

-

55 058 576

(130 253 298)

32 930 636

R’

R’

185 311 874

Sale of forklifts

-

455 783 205

455 783 205

-

71 994 300

(66 281 172)

7 388 224

(2 760 269)

(16 191 683)

(29 839 103)

-

56 179 279

(141 224 250)

197 403 529

R’

-

4 205 471

(51 700 116)

(307 703 448)

-

(41 977 238)

(41 977 238)

3 136 788

62 822 589

65 959 377

204 961

8 130 906

-

(5 829 579)

1 486 505

(7 037 794)

(1 686 837)

1 408 547

-

-

-

R’

Total Renewable energy

4 205 471 (359 403 564)

-

(236 795)

(236 795)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

20 838 981

(20 838 981)

R’

Intergroup

Discontinued operations

Rentals and maintenance

-

Finance income

Gross profit/(loss)

Cost of sales

Revenue

2017

-

-

-

-

-

7 981 785

1 694 365

(1 694 365)

(7 981 785)

-

(7 981 785)

R’

Intergroup

(8 921 180)

(11 339 861)

(20 261 041)

-

163 108 496

8 921 180

46 153 710

55 074 890

-

(104 078 622)

163 108 496 (104 078 622)

-

1 115 859

(171 095)

4 872 159

(366 050)

(4 336 633)

(750 529)

1 860 609

8 464 762

-

8 464 762

R’

Other

Continuing operations

-

(7 163 389)

(7 163 389)

3 136 788

121 852 463

124 989 251

204 961

9 246 765

(171 095)

(957 420)

1 120 455

(3 392 642)

(743 001)

1 574 791

482 977

-

482 977

R’

Total

The Group’s revenue from external customers for each key group of product and service is disclosed in note 20.

32. Going concern
Management is satisfied, based on cash flow forecasts and borrowing facilities that the
Group will continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future.

33. Events after the reporting period
An accelerated specific issue of shares for cash
UBI General Partner (Pty) Ltd, on behalf of the ARC Fund (“ARC”), has agreed to a
subscription for 27 322 404 Global shares for cash, at an issue price of R1.83 per share,
for an aggregate amount of R50 million. The proposed subscription will result in ARC
holding approximately 45.30% of the entire issued share capital of Global.

Loan from ARC
Subsequent to the reporting date, ARC advanced R7,5 million of short-term funding to
the Group. The purpose of the loan is to support the current operations and roll out of
the renewable energy businesses.

Asset finance business
Refer to note 12 and note 13 for the details on the IFRS 5 classification of the asset
finance business.
There are no other major events subsequent to 30 November 2018 that require disclosure.
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34. Contingent liabilities
The Group had no commitments at 30 November 2018 and at 30 November 2017,
however due to the development of the pyrolysis plants the Group expects to incurred
capital expenditure of approximately R88 million, subject to funding being obtained.

35. Operating leases
Operating lease as lessor
The Group leases an industrial premises under operating leases. Lease period is
10 years. Future contractual amounts due are as follows:

2018

year

1 and 5 years

Between

Later than

R’

R’

R’

R’

10 547 044

928 560

4 305 819

5 312 665

Total

Less than 1

5 years

Minimum contractual
rental income

2017

1 year

1 and 5 years

Between

Later than

R’

R’

R’

R’

-

-

-

-

Total

Less than

5 years

Minimum contractual
rental income
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Operating lease as lessee
The Group leases a property under an operating lease. The lease period is five years.
The future contractual amount due by the Group is as follows:

2018

Minimum contractual rental expense

2017

Minimum contractual rental expense

Total

Less than

Between

1 year

1 and 5 years

R’

R’

R’

2 321 250

773 630

1 547 620

Total

Less than

Between

1 year

1 and 5 years

R’

R’

R’

3 503 480

703 300

2 800 180
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36. Share-based payment transaction (BEE transaction)
In the previous reporting period, African Rainbow Capital Ltd (“ARC”) subscribed for
19 323 671 ordinary shares (constituting approximately 26.3% of Global’s shares following such subscription) for a consideration of R40 million in Global at subscription price
of R2.07 per share. On subscription date, the share price on the JSE was R3.90 and the
value per share based on net asset value (“NAV”) was R2.82.
GAM shares were not actively trading thus the fair value was not based on JSE prices
but was determined using valuation techniques, i.e., a discounted cash flow method.
The method doesn’t take into account the expected dividends. The fair value of the
GAM shares was determined by discounting the future free cash flows generated by
the Group.
The calculation of the fair value was based on the following key assumptions:
•

The growth rate 5% applied is based on the production of oil growth for the
forecast period of 5 years.

•

A discount rate of 24.1% was used. This discount rate is derived from the Group’s
adjusted cost of equity. Adjustments to the cost of equity include an illiquid stock
adjustment as published by an independent source.

•

The forecast is for a period of 5 years. A growth rate of 4% was applied to
determine the terminal value at the end of the projected forecast. This growth
rate is based on the South African economy’s long-term growth rate as published
by an independent source adjusted by the growth rate expected by management.
Management’s expected growth rate is based on future trends in the renewable
energy industry.
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The respective share-based payment expense was determined as follows:

ARC interest in GAM
Fair value
Consideration received
Share-based payment expense

Per Share

Total

R’

R’

2.11

40 857 801

(2.07)

(40 000 000)

0.04

857 801

In the previous reporting period ARC also subscribed for 9 614 ordinary shares (constituting 46% of Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd (“EPT”) shares following such subscription) for a
consideration of R9 614 in EPT at subscription price of R1.00 per share. Refer to note 22.
The fair value was determined using a market approach method. The method takes
into account the loans payable. The fair value of the EPT share was determined by
using an enterprise value/ sales multiple.
The calculation of the fair value was based on the following key assumptions:
•

The revenue forecast for the current period.

•

A weighted average enterprise value/ sale multiple as published by an
independent source.

The respective share-based payment expense was determined as follows:

ARC interest in EPT
Fair value

Per Share

Total

R’

R’

20.00

192 365

Consideration received

(1.00)

(9 614)

Share-based payment

19.00

182 751

Total share-based payment expense (Refer to note 23)
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ANALYSIS OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS
as at 30 November 2018

Shareholders of more than 5% of total issued
share capital

Number of

% of issued

Insure Group Managers Ltd

22 660 571

29.95%

UBI General Part (Pty) Ltd OBO ARC

19 323 671

25.54%

Oakleaf Insurance Company Ltd

8 695 652

11.49%

Conceptual Technologies Africa (Pty) Ltd

5 706 051

7.54%

Earthwize Recycling (Pty) Ltd – Pledged

4 880 852

6.45%

The Altena Investments Trust

4 344 924

5.74%

65 611 721

86.71%

Shareholder

Total ordinary shareholders
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Categories of shareholders
Shareholder type
Public

Number of

30 November

30 November

171

14 392 272

12 760 897

2

10 586 903*

10 040 455*

1

22 660 571

22 660 571

1

19 323 671

19 323 671

1

8 695 652

8 695 652

176

75 659 069

73 481 246

holders

2018

2017

Non-public
- Directors
- Shareholders holding more
than 10%
Insure Group Managers Ltd
UBI General Part (Pty) Ltd
obo ARC
Oakleaf Insurance Company
Ltd
Total shareholders

* N Penzhorn and MCC Van Ettinger are Directors and shareholders in Earthwize Recycling (Pty)
Ltd and Conceptual Technologies (Pty) Ltd respectively.

Categories of shareholders

Shareholder type
Individuals
Trusts
Close Corporations
Companies
Total ordinary shareholders

Number of

Number of

% of issued

145

4 097 872

5.42%

11

6 625 710

8.76%

3

7 704

0.01%

17

64 928 783

85.82%

176

75 659 069

100.00%

holders

shares
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capital
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Registered shareholder spread
Number of

Number of

% of issued

1 - 1 000

58

36 141

0.05%

1 001 - 10 000

72

400 633

0.53%

10 001 - 100 000

27

864 598

1.14%

100 001 - 1 000 000

11

5 083 781

6.72%

1 000 001 and over

8

69 273 916

91.56%

176

75 659 069

100.00%

Number of

Number of

% of issued

Shareholder spread

Total

holders

shares

capital

Geographical split of shareholders
Region

holders

South Africa

capital

174

75 067 719

99.22%

Australia

1

17 600

0.02%

Bermuda

1

573 750

0.76%

176

75 659 069

100.00%

Total

192

shares
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DEFINITIONS

ARC

UBI General Partner (Pty) Ltd obo the ARC Fund, an en commandite
partnership, associated with African Rainbow Capital Ltd

BBBEE

Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment

BCM

Business Continuity Management

Board

Board of Directors of Global

Companies Act

Companies Act No 71 of 2008 as amended

CSP

Concentrated Solar Power

CPI

Consumer Price Index

DRP

Disaster Recovery Plan

EPT

Enviroprotek (Pty) Ltd

EWEH

Earthwize Energy Holdings (Pty) Ltd

FSC

Financial Sector Charter

Global/ GAM

Global Asset Management Ltd and its subsidiaries

HIV/Aids

Human Immunodeficiency Virus/Acquired Immune Deficiency
Syndrome
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IASB

International Accounting Standards Board

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards
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IT

Information Technology

JSE

Johannesburg Stock Exchange

King IV

King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa issued in
2016

KPA

Key Performance Area

LFS

LFS Assets (Pty) Ltd

MOI

Memorandum of Incorporation

NCA

National Credit Act

NCR

National Credit Regulator

OECD

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and development

PGE

Plastics Green Energy (Pty) Ltd

SME

Small and Medium Enterprise

SRM

Social Responsibility Management

the Company

Global Asset Management Ltd

the Group

Global/ GAM

TRR

Total Rubber Recycle (Pty) Ltd

UNGCP

United Nations Global Company Principles
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF
THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Directors
GK Cunliffe (Chairman)*#

MCC van Ettinger (Chief Operations Officer)

N Penzhorn (Chief Executive Officer)

GT Magomola*#

WP Basson (Chief Financial Officer)

AJ Naidoo*#

NB Matyolo*

MJ Reyneke*

*Non-Executive, #Independent

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of shareholders
of the Company will be held at 10:00 on Wednesday, 10 July 2019 at IOM House,
6 St Giles Street, Randburg to consider, and if deemed fit, to pass, with or without
modifications, the resolutions set out below.

Record Dates
The Board of Directors of the Company has determined that the record date for the
purpose of determining which shareholders of the Company are entitled to receive
notice of this AGM is Thursday, 18 April 2019 and the record date for purposes of
determining which shareholders of the Company are entitled to participate in and vote
at the AGM is Friday, 5 July 2019. Accordingly, only shareholders who are registered
in the register of members of the Company on Tuesday, 2 July 2019 will be entitled to
participate in and vote at the AGM.
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Who May Attend
1.

If you are the registered holder of certificated shares or you hold dematerialised
shares with “own name” registration:
you may attend the AGM in person; or
you may appoint a proxy to represent you at the AGM by completing the attached
form of proxy in accordance with the instructions contained therein and by returning it to the transfer secretaries to be received no later than 10:00 on, Monday,
8 July 2019 for administrative purposes or thereafter to the Company by hand by
no later than 10:00 on Wednesday, 10 July 2019.
A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.
Certificated Shareholders or Own-name Dematerialised Shareholders may attend and vote at the AGM, or alternatively appoint a proxy to attend, speak and,
in respect of the applicable resolutions, vote in their stead by completing the
attached form of proxy and returning it to the Company’s transfer secretaries,
Link Market Services South Africa Proprietary Limited, at 13th Floor, 19 Ameshoff
Street, Braamfontein, Johannesburg, 2001, or posting to the transfer secretaries
at PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000, to be received by no later than 10:00 on
Monday, 8 July 2019 for administrative purposes or thereafter to the Company by
hand by no later than 10:00 on Wednesday, 10 July 2019.

2.

If you hold dematerialised shares which are not registered in your name:
–– and you wish to attend the AGM in person, you must obtain the necessary
letter of representation from your Central Securities Depository Participant
(“CSDP”) or broker or nominee (as the case may be); or
–– if you do not wish to attend the AGM but would like your vote to be recorded
at the meeting, you should contact your CSDP or broker or nominee (as the
case may be) and furnish them with your voting instructions; and
–– you must not complete the attached proxy form.
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Electronic Participation at the AGM
In accordance with the provisions of section 61(10) of the Companies Act, the Company intends to make provision for shareholders and their proxies to participate in the
AGM by way of telephone conference call. Shareholders wishing to do so:
–– must contact the Chief Financial Officer at +27 11 662 3800 by not later than
10:00 on Monday, 8 July 2019, to obtain a pin number and dial-in details for
the conference call;
–– will be required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification;
–– will be billed separately by their own telephone service providers for the
telephone call to participate in the AGM; and
–– must submit their voting proxies to the transfer secretaries, Link Market Services
South Africa Proprietary Limited, 13th Floor, 19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein,
Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000) (Tel: (011) 713 0800)
by no later than 10:00 on Monday, 8 July 2019 for administrative purposes
on commencement of the AGM on Wednesday, 10 July 2019. No changes
to voting instructions after this time and date can be accepted unless the
Chairman of the meeting is satisfied as to the identification of the electronic
participant.

Purpose of the AGM
The purpose of the AGM is to present to the shareholders of the Company:
–– the Group audited annual financial statements for the year ended
30 November 2018;
–– the Directors’ Report;
–– the Report of the Audit Committee;
–– the Report of the Social & Ethics Committee; and
–– to deal with any other business that may lawfully be dealt with at the AGM,
and to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the
resolutions set out below:
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1. Ordinary resolution number 1 – Annual financial statements
“RESOLVED THAT the annual financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 30 November 2018, including the Directors’ Report, the
Independent Auditors’ Report, the Audit and Risk Committee Report and the Social
and Ethics Committee Report, be received, considered and adopted.”
Explanatory Note:
The annual financial statements are required to be approved in terms of the Companies Act, 2008 (No 71 of 2008) (“the Companies Act”).
The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for ordinary resolution 1
to be adopted is 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights plus 1 (one) vote to be cast
on this resolution.

2. Ordinary resolution number 2 – Director retirement and re-election – NB Matyolo
“RESOLVED THAT NB Matyolo, which Director retires in terms of the Company’s
MOI and, being eligible, offers herself for re-election as a Director of the Company
be and is hereby approved.”
Ms NB Matyolo’s curriculum vitae is set out on page 214 of this Integrated Annual
Report.

3. Ordinary resolution number 3 – Director retirement and re-election – MJ Reyneke
“RESOLVED THAT MJ Reyneke, which Director retires in terms of the Company’s
MOI and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election as a Director of the Company
be and is hereby approved.”
Mr MJ Reyneke’s curriculum vitae is set out on page 214 of this Integrated Annual
Report.
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Explanatory Note:
In accordance with the MOI of the Company, one-third of the Non-Executive
Directors or any interim appointed Directors are required to retire at each meeting
and may offer themselves for re-election. In terms of the MOI of the Company the
Executive Directors, during the period of their service contract, are not taken into
account when determining which directors are to retire by rotation.
The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for ordinary resolutions 2
and 3 to be adopted is 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights plus 1 (one) vote to
be cast on the resolution.

4. Ordinary resolution number 4 – Re-appointment and remuneration of auditors
“RESOLVED THAT the re-appointment of Crowe JHB as nominated by the Group’s
Audit Committee, as the independent external auditor of the Group be and is hereby approved and that the Audit Committee be and are hereby authorised to determine the remuneration of the auditors. It is noted that Mr Craig George is the individual registered auditor who will undertake the audit for the financial year ending
30 November 2019, being the designated auditor.”
Explanatory Note:
Crowe JHB has indicated their willingness to be reappointed as the Company’s auditor until the next AGM. During the year, the audit partner changed to Mr Craig
George. The Audit Committee has satisfied itself as to the independence of Crowe
JHB and Mr Craig George and has also considered the requirements for the reappointment of the audit firm and audit partner in accordance with recent amendments to the JSE Listings Requirements. Further details are set out in the Audit
Committee Report on page 82 of this Integrated Annual Report.
The Audit Committee has the power in terms of the Companies Act to approve the
remuneration of the external auditors. The remuneration paid to the auditors during
the year ended 30 November 2018 is R1 367 739.
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The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for ordinary resolution 4
to be adopted is 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights plus 1 (one) vote to be cast
in favour of the resolution.

5. O
 rdinary resolution number 5 – Re-appointment of Audit and Risk Committee
member – GT Magomola
“RESOLVED THAT GT Magomola be and is hereby approved to be reappointed as
a member and Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee.”
Mr GT Magomola’s curriculum vitae is set out on page 215 of this Integrated Annual
Report.

6. O
 rdinary resolution number 6 – Re-appointment of Audit and Risk Committee
member – AJ Naidoo
“RESOLVED THAT AJ Naidoo be and is hereby approved to be reappointed as
member of the Audit and Risk Committee.”
Mr AJ Naidoo’s curriculum vitae is set out on page 216 of this Integrated Annual
Report.

7. O
 rdinary resolution number 7 – Appointment of Audit and Risk Committee
member – MJ Reyneke
“RESOLVED THAT MJ Reyneke be and is hereby approved to be appointed as
member of the Audit and Risk Committee.”
Mr MJ Reyneke’s curriculum vitae is set out on page 214 of this Integrated Annual
Report.
Explanatory Note for ordinary resolutions number 5 to 7:
In terms of Section 61 (8)(c)(ii) of the Companies Act, shareholders are required to
approve the appointment of the Audit Committee members.
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The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for each of ordinary resolutions 5 to 7 to be adopted is 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights plus 1 (one)
vote to be cast on each resolution.

8. Ordinary resolution number 8 - Endorsement of Global’s Remuneration Policy
“RESOLVED THAT, the Company’s remuneration policy as set out in Part I of the
Remuneration Report, be and is hereby approved.”
Explanatory Note:
In terms of King IV dealing with Boards and Directors, companies are required to
table their remuneration policy every year to shareholders for a non-binding advisory vote at the AGM. This vote enables shareholders to express their views on the
remuneration policies adopted and on their implementation.
Part I of the Company’s Remuneration Report is contained on pages 52 to 57 of this
Integrated Annual Report.
Ordinary resolution 8 is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this resolution
will therefore not have any legal consequences relating to existing arrangements.
However, the Board will take the outcome of the vote into consideration when considering the Company’s remuneration policy.

9. Ordinary resolution number 9 - Endorsement of the implementation of Global’s
Remuneration Policy
“RESOLVED THAT, the implementation of the company’s remuneration policy as set
out in Part II of the company’s Remuneration Report, be and is hereby approved.”
Explanatory Note:
In terms of King IV dealing with Boards and Directors, companies are required to
table their remuneration policy every year to shareholders for a non-binding advisory vote at the AGM. This vote enables shareholders to express their views on the
remuneration policies adopted and on their implementation.
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Part II of the Company’s Remuneration Report is contained on page 58 to 59 of this
Integrated Annual Report.
Ordinary resolution 9 is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this resolution
will therefore not have any legal consequences relating to existing arrangements.
However, the Board will take the outcome of the vote into consideration when
considering the company’s remuneration policy.
Should more than 25% of the total votes cast be against either ordinary resolutions
8 or 9, the company will issue an announcement on the Stock Exchange News
Services (“SENS”) inviting shareholders who voted against the resolutions to meet
with members of the Remuneration Committee. The process to be followed will be
set out in a SENS announcement.

10. Special resolution number 1 – General authority to allot and issue shares for cash
“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the Listings
Requirements of the JSE and the Company’s MOI, as a general authority valid
until the next AGM of the Company and provided that it shall not extend past
15 months from the date of this AGM, the authorised but unissued ordinary shares
of the Company be and are hereby placed under the control of the Directors who
are hereby authorised to allot, issue, grant options over or otherwise deal with
or dispose of these shares to such persons at such times and on such terms and
conditions and for such consideration whether payable in cash or otherwise, as the
Directors may think fit, provided that:
–– the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already
in issue, or where this is not the case, must be limited to such equity securities
or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;
–– this authority shall not endure beyond the next AGM of the Company nor shall
it endure beyond 15 months from the date of this meeting;
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–– the shares must be issued only to public shareholders (as defined in the
Listings Requirements of the JSE) and not to related parties (as defined in the
Listings Requirements of the JSE);
–– Upon any issue of shares for cash which represent, on a cumulative basis within a
financial year, 5% (five percent) of the number of shares in issue prior to that issue,
the Company shall publish an announcement containing full details of the issue,
(including the number of shares issued, the average discount to the weighted
average traded price of the shares over the 30 days prior to the date that the
price of the issue is agreed in writing between the company and the party/
(ies) subscribing for the shares and the effects of the issue on the Statement of
Financial Position, net asset value per share, net tangible asset value per share,
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, earnings per share, headline earnings
per share, and if applicable diluted earnings per share and diluted headline
earnings per share), or an explanation, including supporting information (if any),
of the intended use of the funds, or any other announcements that may be
required in such regard in terms of the Listings Requirements which may be
applicable from time to time;
–– the number of ordinary shares issued for cash shall not, in the current financial
year, in aggregate, exceed 50% or 37 829 535 of the Company’s issued ordinary
shares (including securities which are compulsorily convertible into shares of
that class and excluding treasury shares) provided that;
a) any equity securities issued under the authority during the period contemplated above must be deducted from the 37 829 535 ordinary shares as
stated above; and
b) in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of issued equity securities
during the period contemplated above, the existing authority must be
adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio.
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–– the maximum discount at which shares may be issued is 10% of the weighted
average traded price of the company’s shares over the 30 business days prior
to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed by the Directors
of the Company.”
Explanatory Note:
An ordinary resolution is required in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE
in order for shareholders to place the authority to issue shares for cash under the
control of the Directors. A special resolution is required in terms of the Companies
Act to issue more than 30% new shares. Accordingly, this resolution is proposed
as a special resolution.
In order for this resolution to be adopted, it must be approved by 75% (seventy five
percent) of the voting rights exercised on special resolution 1 by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled to exercise voting rights on the
resolution is required.

11. Special resolution number 2 – Authority to issue shares, securities convertible
into shares or rights that may exceed 30% of the voting power of the current
issued share capital
“RESOLVED THAT: the authorised but unissued shares of the Company be
and are hereby placed under the control of the Directors (to the extent that
this is necessary in terms of the Company’s memorandum of incorporation)
and the Directors be and are hereby authorised, to the extent required in
terms of section 41(3) of the Companies Act, to allot and issue such number of
shares in the authorised but unissued share capital of the Company as may be
required for purposes of issuing shares, securities convertible into shares, or
rights exercisable for shares in a transaction or series of integrated transactions
notwithstanding the fact that such number of ordinary shares may have voting
power equal to or in excess of 30% of the voting rights of all ordinary shares
in issue immediately prior to such issue. This authority specifically includes the

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

205

authority to allot and issue any ordinary shares in the authorised but unissued
share capital of the Company to any underwriter(s) of a rights or claw-back offer (whether or not such underwriter is a related party to Global (as defined for
purposes of the Listings Requirements) and/or person falling within the ambit
of section 41(1) of the Companies Act, being a Director, future Director, prescribed officer or future prescribed officer of the Company or a person related
or inter-related to the Company or related or inter-related to a Director or prescribed officer of the Company or a nominee of any of the foregoing persons.”
Explanatory Note:
The reason for special resolution number 2 is to:
a) obtain approval from the shareholders of the Company, in terms of the
provisions of sections 41(1) and (3) of the Companies Act (to the extent required), to issue additional ordinary shares in the authorised but unissued
share capital of the Company to enable the Company to issue shares, securities convertible into shares, or rights exercisable for shares in a transaction or series of integrated transactions notwithstanding the fact that
such number of ordinary shares may have voting power equal to or in excess of 30% of the voting rights of all ordinary shares in issue immediately
prior to such issue; and
b) to provide for the possibility of such shares being issued to persons and
parties considered to be related and/or inter-related parties as defined in
section 2 of the Companies Act, 2008 and the Listings Requirements of
the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”), which issue will be subject to
the JSE Listings Requirements.
In order for this resolution to be adopted, the support of at least 75% of the
voting rights exercised on the resolution by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM and entitled to exercise voting rights on the resolution
is required.
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12. Special resolution number 3 – Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration
“RESOLVED THAT, the approval of the remuneration payable to the Non-Executive Directors for the financial year commencing 01 December 2018 as follows:
Other Directors /

Chairman

Members of Committees

360 000

120 000

Board:
Remuneration per annum (Maximum):

The above fees are proposed net of VAT which may become payable thereon to
Directors depending on the status of the individual Director’s tax position.
Explanatory Note:
In terms of Section 66(9) of the Companies Act, shareholders are required to approve the remuneration of Directors.
The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this special resolution to be adopted is 75% (seventy five percent) of the voting rights to be cast on
this resolution.

13. Special resolution number 4 – General authority to enter into funding agreements, provide loans or other financial assistance
“RESOLVED THAT in terms of Section 45 of the Companies Act, as amended,
the Company be and is hereby granted a general approval authorising that the
Company and or any one or more of and/or its subsidiaries incorporated in the
Republic to enter into direct or indirect funding agreements or to provide loans
or financial assistance between any one or more of the subsidiaries from time
to time, subject to the provisions of the JSE Listings Requirements, for funding
agreements and as the Directors in their discretion deem fit.
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Explanatory Note:
The purpose of this resolution is to enable the Company to enter into funding arrangements with its subsidiaries and to allow intergroup loans between subsidiaries.
The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this special resolution
to be adopted is 75% (seventy five percent) of the voting rights to be cast on each
resolution.

14. Special resolution number 5: General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares
“RESOLVED THAT, subject to the approval of 75% of the shareholders present in
person and by proxy, and entitled to vote at the AGM, the Company and/or any
subsidiary of the Company is hereby authorised, by way of a general authority, from
time to time, to acquire ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company from any
person in accordance with the requirements of Global’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, provided that:
–– any such acquisition of ordinary shares shall be effected through the order
book operated by the JSE trading system and done without any prior
understanding or arrangement with the counterparty;
–– this general authority shall be valid until the earlier of the Company’s next
AGM or the variation or revocation of such general authority by special
resolution at any subsequent general meeting of the Company, provided that
it shall not extend beyond 15 months from the date of passing of this special
resolution number 5;
–– an announcement will be published as soon as the Company or any of its
subsidiaries have acquired ordinary shares constituting, on a cumulative basis,
3% of the number of ordinary shares in issue and for each 3% in aggregate of
the initial number acquired thereafter, in compliance with paragraph 11.27 of
the JSE Listings Requirements;
–– acquisitions of shares in aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed
5% of the Company’s ordinary issued share capital, as the case may be, as at
the date of passing of this special resolution number 5;
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–– ordinary shares may not be acquired at a price greater than 10% above the
weighted average of the market value at which such ordinary shares are traded
on the JSE as determined over the five business days immediately preceding
the date of acquisition of such ordinary shares;
–– the Company has been given authority by its MOI;
–– the Board of Directors authorises the acquisition and that the Company passed
the solvency and liquidity test, as set out in Section 4 of the Companies Act,
and that since the solvency and liquidity test was performed there have been
no material changes to the financial position of the Company;
–– in terms of section 48 (2)(b) of the Companies Act, the Board of a subsidiary
company may determine that it will acquire shares of its holding company, but
(i) not more than 10%, in aggregate, of the number of issued shares of any
class of shares of a company may be held by, or for the benefit of, all of the
subsidiaries of that company, taken together; and (ii) no voting rights attached
to those shares may be exercised while the shares are held by the subsidiary,
and it remains a subsidiary of the company whose shares it holds;
–– in terms of section 48 (8)(b) of the Companies Act, the repurchase of any shares
is subject to the requirements of sections 114 and 115 if, considered alone,
or together with other transactions in an integrated series of transactions, it
involves the acquisition by the Company of more than 5% of the issued shares
of any particular class of the Company’s shares;
–– at any point in time, the Company and/or its subsidiaries may only appoint
one agent to effect any such acquisition;
–– the Company and/or its subsidiaries undertake that they will not enter the
market to so acquire the Company’s shares until the Company’s designated
advisor has provided written confirmation to the JSE regarding the adequacy
of the Company’s working capital in accordance with Schedule 25 of the
Listings Requirements of the JSE; and
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–– the Company and/or its subsidiaries may not acquire any shares during a
prohibited period, as defined in the Listings Requirements of the JSE unless
a repurchase program is in place, where dates and quantities of shares
to be traded during the prohibited period are fixed and full details of the
program have been disclosed in an announcement over the SENS prior to the
commencement of the prohibited period.
Explanatory Note:
The reason for and effect of this special resolution is to grant the Company and its
subsidiaries a general authority to facilitate the acquisition by the Company and/or
its subsidiaries of the Company’s own shares, which general authority shall be valid
until the earlier of the next AGM of the Company or the variation or revocation of
such general authority by special resolution at any subsequent general meeting
of the Company, provided that this general authority shall not extend beyond
15 months from the date of the passing of this special resolution number 5.
Any decision by the Directors, after considering the effect of an acquisition of up
to 5% of the Company’s issued ordinary, as the case may be, to use the general authority to acquire shares of the Company will be taken with regard to the prevailing
market conditions and other factors and provided that, after such acquisition, the
Directors are of the opinion that:
–– the Company and its subsidiaries will be able to pay their debts in the
ordinary course of business;
–– recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies used
in the latest audited annual group financial statements, the assets of the
Company and its subsidiaries will exceed the liabilities of the Company and
its subsidiaries;
–– the share capital and reserves of the Company and its subsidiaries will be
adequate for the purposes of the business of the Company and its subsidiaries;
and
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–– the working capital of the Company and its subsidiaries will be adequate for
the purposes of the business of the Company and its subsidiaries, for the
period of 12 months after the date of the notice of the AGM. The Company
will ensure that its designated advisor will provide the necessary letter on the
adequacy of the working capital in terms of the Listings Requirements of the
JSE, prior to the commencement of any purchase of the Company’s shares on
the open market.
The JSE Listings Requirements require, in terms of section 11.26, the following
disclosures, which appear in this Annual Report:
–– Major shareholders – refer to page 94 and 190 of this Integrated Annual Report.
–– Share capital of the Company – refer to page 151 of this Integrated Annual
Report.
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Litigation statement
In terms of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Directors, whose
names appear on page 73 of this Integrated Annual Report of which the notice of
AGM forms part, are aware of a likely legal proceeding that is pending. There is
currently litigation pending concerning LFS Assets (Pty) Ltd. This will have no impact
on the Group for the reasons disclosed in note 12 and 13 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
There is no other litigation pending that is likely to have a material impact on the results
of the Group.

Directors’ responsibility statement
The Directors, whose names appear on page 73 of this Integrated Annual Report, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information
pertaining to this special resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statements
false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been
made and that this special resolution contains all information required by law and the
JSE Listings Requirements.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in this Integrated Annual Report,
there have been no material changes in the financial or trading position of the Company
and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit report and up to the date of
the notice of AGM. The Directors have no specific intention, at present, for the Company
or its subsidiaries to acquire any of the Company’s shares but consider that such a general authority should be put in place should an opportunity present itself to do so during
the year, which is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
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The Directors are of the opinion that it would be in the best interests of the Company
to extend such general authority and thereby allow the Company or any of its subsidiaries to be in a position to acquire the shares issued by the Company through the
order book of the JSE, should the market conditions, tax dispensation and price justify
such an action.
The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required for this special resolution to
be adopted is 75% (seventy five percent) of the voting rights plus 1 (one) vote to be
cast on this resolution.

Voting Rights
Each shareholder, whether present in person or represented by proxy, is entitled to
attend and vote at the AGM. On a show of hands every shareholder who is present in
person or by proxy shall have one vote, and, on a poll, every shareholder present in
person or by proxy shall have one vote for each share held by him/her.

By order of the Board
Arbor Capital Company Secretarial (Pty) Ltd
(Registration Number 1998/025284/07)
Company Secretary
12 March 2019
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ABRIDGED CURRICULUM VITAE:

Ntombiyoxolo Matyolo (“Brenda”) NDip: Accounting (44)
Director re-appointment
Non-Executive Director
Brenda is a qualified Ontological Coach and holds a National Diploma in Accounting
and Management Development Programme Diploma with UNISA School of Business
Leadership. Brenda has diverse experience in building effective teams, managing projects, stakeholder management, growing SMME’s to deliver shareholder value, transformation of supplier chains and assisting organisations to embrace as well as integrate
South Africa’s codes of good practice on broad based black economic empowerment
in doing business. Brenda joined ARC in June 2016 as the Chief Operations Officer.

Machiel Johannes Reyneke CA(SA) (61)
Director re-appointment and Audit and Risk Committee member
re-appointment
Non-Executive Director
Machiel is a qualified Chartered Accountant (SA). During his career he has held various,
finance–related positions, including Financial Director of Santam Limited where he has
served as a Board member and sub-committee member of various group companies.
Machiel joined ARC in July 2015 and is currently the Executive Director of Mergers and
Acquisitions.

214

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Gabriel Thono Magomola BCom (SA), MBA, MRDT (MIT) (75)
Audit and Risk Committee Chairman re-appointment
Independent Non-Executive Director
Gaby is a well-respected leader with solid general management skills and experience
acquired over many years in South Africa, the USA, the Middle East and Europe. He is
a banking pioneer, entrepreneur and businessman, was the second black African from
SA to obtain a prestigious MBA (from an American University), and has been at the
helm of several pioneering initiatives. From being a sisal plantation worker in remote
rural Moletji in Limpopo Province to trading currencies in that heart of high finance –
New York’s Wall Street, while working for Citibank.
In commerce and industry, in the early 90’s, Gaby assumed senior positions at Barclays
Bank and was made CEO of African Bank where he assisted in the setup of Future Bank
where he served as a Director.
Gaby has been considered, to be a pioneer in Black Economic Empowerment.
Between 1998 and 2002 he was CEO of Empowerment Group Kgorong Investments
Holdings. He also held Directorships within leading South African corporations and is
the founding Chairman of the South African Business Council on HIV/AIDS (SABCOHA)
while also serving as a life governor of the University of Cape Town Foundation.
Gaby has an extensive network of Private and Public Sectors contracts on the continent, Europe, North America and South-East Asia.
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Gordon Kenneth Cunliffe CA(SA) (70)
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director
Gordon is a qualified Chartered Accountant having qualified as a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW} in 1995. He is a fellow
of the ICAEW and a member of the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.
Gordon spent most of his career as a partner in Price Waterhouse in Zimbabwe, Botswana
and South Africa where he specialised in the financial services industry. Since his departure
from Price Waterhouse he has engaged in a number of private business activities as well
as participating in the establishment of a new bank for a foreign shareholder.
Gordon has been on the Board of Bank of Botswana (the Botswana Reserve Bank) for a
number of years and currently chairs their Audit Committee. He has also served on the
Boards of other public companies.

Alan Jerome Naidoo BCom (41)
Audit and Risk Committee member re-appointment
Independent Non-Executive Director
Alan Naidoo is currently the Managing Director at African Capital Partners (“ACP”),
which is a diversified investment holding company with interests within the ICT, Financial Services, Agricultre and Property sectors. Prior to joining ACP, Alan gained extensive experience working within the banking sector at FirstRand Banking Group over his
6 year period. His duties included amongst others working with the asset and liability
company of the bank pricing interest rates and thereafter he moved into a structured
lending specialist role at Rand Merchant Bank where majority of his time was spent.
Alan also sits on the Board of JSE listed ISA Holdings LTD in which he serves as
Non-Executive Director, member of the Audit Committee as well as chairs the Social
and Ethics Committee.
He has gained extensive experience over the years in his various roles in understanding
entrepreneurship, governance and creating sustainable businesses.
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Niels Penzhorn, CFA (MSc Pretoria University, MSc Purdue
University US) (46)
Chief Executive Officer
Niels has been involved in structured finance, asset management and investment banking since 2000. After six years with Deutsche Asset Management in Luxemburg and
Frankfurt, he joined Deutsche Bank in South Africa as Director for Equity Derivatives.
Following a brief period at Rand Merchant Bank within the Exchange Traded Products
Group, Niels joined Global Asset Management in December of 2009, and was appointed as Managing Director in 2011.
As CEO for Global Asset Management, Niels is driving the establishment of the Global’s renewable energy businesses, focussing on plastic and rubber recycling and solar
energy generation.
Niels was awarded a Fulbright Scholarship and completed a Master’s Degree at Purdue
University, specialising in Finance at the Krannert School of Management. He is also a
CFA charter holder.
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Marinus Cornelis Christoffel (Koos) van Ettinger, (Banking
Examinations) (71)
Chief Operating Officer
Koos started his career at Standard Bank of SA Ltd in 1966. His experience there
spanned all aspects of banking, with special emphasis on the treasury division, where
he specialised in foreign exchange and associated products. In 1979 he was appointed head of SBSA’s International Division, responsible for foreign exchange worldwide.
In 1992 he left the banking world to form Global Asset Management, specialising in
foreign currency and treasury management. Over the years under his leadership, the
company has expanded into Project and Structured Finance management, International Trade Related Finance, Asset Finance, and Property Investments.
Throughout this time Koos has gained experience in developing and implementing
creative financing structures for both local and international projects. As Group COO
he is involved in the development of the company into the market leader in Waste to
Energy extraction, and with the intention to leverage its assets and expand into similar
and complementary international markets.

Werner Petrus Basson BAcc Hons, CA(SA) (36)
Chief Financial Officer
Werner is a qualified chartered accountant whom gained experience in one of the big
4 audit/ accounting advisory firms before joining Global Asset Management Ltd as
Chief Financial Officer in 2012. He is a well-balanced individual with integrity and lives
by ethical values. Werner’s career objectives include working for a company that shares
his enthusiasm and desire for success, as well as a company that continuously develops
and improves his general business knowledge and professional skills.
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GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2002/003192/06)
(“Global” or “the Company”)
JSE code : GAM

ISIN code : ZAE000173498

FORM OF PROXY
(for use by certificated and own name dematerialised shareholders only)

For use by certificated and “own name” registered dematerialised shareholders of
the Company (“shareholders”) at the Annual General Meeting of Global to be held at
10h00 on Wednesday, 10 July 2019 at IOM House, 6 St Giles Street, Randburg (“the
Annual General Meeting”).

I/We (please print) ........................................................................................................
of (address) ...................................................................................................................
being the holder/s of .............................................................. ordinary shares of No Par
Value in Global, appoint (see note 1):
1. ..................................................................................................... or failing him/her,
2. ..................................................................................................... or failing him/her,
3. the chairperson of the Annual General Meeting,

as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting
which will be held for the purpose of considering, and if deemed fit, passing, with or
without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any adjournment
thereof; and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in
respect of the ordinary shares registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the
following instructions (see note 2):
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Number of votes
For

Against

Abstain

Ordinary Resolution Number 1 –
Adoption of annual financial statements
Ordinary Resolution Number 2 –
Director retirement and re-election – N Matyolo
Ordinary Resolution Number 3 –
Director retirement and re-election – MJ Reyneke
Ordinary Resolution Number 4 Auditors’ re-appointment and remuneration – Crowe JHB
Ordinary Resolution Number 5 Re-appointment of Audit and Risk Committee member –
GT Magomola
Ordinary Resolution Number 6 –
Re-appointment of Audit and Risk Committee member –
AJ Naidoo
Ordinary Resolution Number 7 –
Re-appointment of Audit and Risk Committee member –
MJ Reyneke
Ordinary Resolution Number 8 –
Endorsement of Global’s Remuneration Policy
Ordinary Resolution Number 9 –
Endorsement of the implementation of Global’s Remuneration Policy
Special Resolution Number 1 –
General authority to allot and issue shares for cash
Special Resolution Number 2 –
Authority to issue shares, securities convertible into
shares or rights that may exceed 30% of the voting power of the current issued share capital
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Special Resolution Number 3 –
Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration
Special Resolution Number 4 –
General authority to enter into funding agreements,
provide loans or other financial assistance
Special Resolution Number 5 –
General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares

Signed at ................................................. on ....................................................... 2019
Signature ......................................................................................................................
Assisted by me (where applicable) ..............................................................................
Name.............................................................................................................................
Capacity ........................................................................................................................
Signature ......................................................................................................................
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1. Certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with “own name”
registration
If you are a certificated shareholder or have dematerialised your shares with “own
name” registration and you are unable to attend the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)
of Global shareholders to be held at 10h00 on Wednesday, 10 July 2019 at IOM House,
6 St Giles Street, Randburg and wish to be represented thereat, you must complete
and return this form of proxy in accordance with the instructions contained herein and
lodge it with, or post it to, the transfer secretaries, namely Link Market Services South
Africa Proprietary Limited, 13th Floor, 19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, Johannesburg, 2000 (PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000), so as to be received by them no later
than 10h00 on Monday, 8 July 2019.

2. Dematerialised shareholders other than those with “own name” registration
If you hold dematerialised shares in Global through a CSDP or broker other than with
an “own name” registration, you must timeously advise your CSDP or broker of your
intention to attend and vote at the AGM or be represented by proxy thereat, in order
for your CSDP or broker to provide you with the necessary authorisation to do so, or
should you not wish to attend the AGM in person, you must timeously provide your
CSDP or broker with your voting instruction in order for the CSDP or broker to vote in
accordance with your instruction at the AGM.
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NOTES
1.

This form is for use by certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders
with “own-name” registration whose shares are registered in their own names on
the record date and who wish to appoint another person to represent them at
the meeting. If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies who are
shareholders having shares registered in their own names may appoint a proxy
using this form or may appoint a representative in accordance with the last paragraph below.
Other shareholders should not use this form. All beneficial holders who have
dematerialised their shares through a Central Securities Depository Participant
(“CSDP”) or broker, and do not have their shares registered in their own name,
must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions. Alternatively, if
they wish to attend the meeting in person, they should request the CSDP or
broker to provide them with a letter of representation in terms of the custody
agreement entered into between the beneficial owner and the CSDP or broker.

2.

This proxy form will not be effective at the meeting unless received at IOM
House, 6 St Giles Street, Randburg, Republic of South Africa, not later than 10h00
on Wednesday, 10 July 2019.

3.

This proxy shall apply to all the ordinary shares registered in the name of shareholders at the record date unless a lesser number of shares are inserted.

4.

A shareholder may appoint one person as his proxy by inserting the name of such
proxy in the space provided. Any such proxy need not be a shareholder of the
Company. If the name of the proxy is not inserted, the chairman of the meeting
will be appointed as proxy. If more than one name is inserted, then the person
whose name appears first on the form of proxy and who is present at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of any persons whose names
follow. The proxy appointed in this proxy form may delegate the authority given
to him in this proxy by delivering to the Company, in the manner required by
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these instructions, a further proxy form which has been completed in a manner
consistent with the authority given to the proxy of this proxy form.
5.

Unless revoked, the appointment of proxy in terms of this proxy form remains
valid until the end of the meeting even if the meeting or a part thereof is postponed or adjourned.

6.

If
–– a shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that the proxy is to vote
in favour of or against or to abstain from voting on any resolution; or
–– the shareholder gives contrary instructions in relation to any matter; or
–– any additional resolution/s which are properly put before the meeting; or
–– any resolution listed in the proxy form is modified or amended,
the proxy shall be entitled to vote or abstain from voting, as he thinks fit, in relation to that resolution or matter. If, however, the shareholder has provided further
written instructions which accompany this form and which indicate how the proxy
should vote or abstain from voting in any of the circumstances referred to in 6.1
to 6.4, then the proxy shall comply with those instructions.

7.

If this proxy is signed by a person (signatory) on behalf of the shareholder, whether in terms of a power of attorney or otherwise, then this proxy form will not be
effective unless:
–– it is accompanied by a certified copy of the authority given by the
shareholder to the signatory; or
–– the Company has already received a certified copy of that authority.

8.

The chairman of the meeting may, at his discretion, accept or reject any proxy
form or other written appointment of a proxy which is received by the chairman prior to the time when the meeting deals with a resolution or matter to
which the appointment of the proxy relates, even if that appointment of a proxy
has not been completed and/or received in accordance with these instructions.
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However, the chairman shall not accept any such appointment of a proxy unless
the chairman is satisfied that it reflects the intention of the shareholder appointing the proxy.
9.

Any alterations made in this form of proxy must be initialled by the authorised
signatory/ies.

10.

This proxy form is revoked if the shareholder who granted the proxy:
10.1 delivers a copy of the revocation instrument to the Company and to the
proxy or proxies concerned, so that it is received by the Company by not
later than 10h00 on Wednesday, 10 July 2019; or
10.2 appoints a later, inconsistent appointment of proxy for the meeting; or
10.3 attends the meeting in person.

11.

If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies who are shareholders
of the Company having shares registered in their own name may, instead of completing this proxy form, appoint a representative to represent them and exercise
all of their rights at the meeting by giving written notice of the appointment of
that representative. This notice will not be effective at the meeting unless it is
accompanied by a duly certified copy of the resolution/s or other authorities in
terms of which that representative is appointed and is received at IOM House,
6 St Giles Street, Kensington, Randburg, Republic of South Africa, not later than
10h00 on Wednesday, 10 July 2019.

Summary of rights established by section 58 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008
(“Companies Act”), as required in terms of subsection 58(8)(b)(i)
1.

A shareholder may at any time appoint any individual, including a non-shareholder of the Company, as a proxy to participate in, speak and vote at a shareholders’
meeting on his or her behalf (section 58(1)(a)), or to give or withhold consent on
behalf of the shareholder to a decision in terms of section 60 (shareholders acting
other than at a meeting) (section 58(1)(b)).
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2.

A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder,
and remains valid for one year after the date on which it was signed or any longer
or shorter period expressly set out in the appointment, unless it is revoked in
terms of paragraph 6.3 or expires earlier in terms of paragraph 10.4 below (section 58(2)).

3.

A shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies and
may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to different
securities held by the shareholder (section 58(3)(a)).

4.

A proxy may delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder to
another person, subject to any restriction set out in the instrument appointing the
proxy (“proxy instrument”) (section 58(3)(b)).

5.

A copy of the proxy instrument must be delivered to the Company, or to any other person acting on behalf of the Company, before the proxy exercises any rights
of the shareholder at a shareholders’ meeting (section 58(3)(c)) and in terms of the
memorandum of incorporation (“MOI”) of the Company at least 48 hours before
the meeting commences.

6.

Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy:
6.1

the appointment is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any rights as
a shareholder (section 58)4)(a));

6.2

the appointment is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly
states otherwise (section 58(4)(b)); and

6.3

if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy
appointment by cancelling it in writing or by making a later, inconsistent
appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument
to the proxy and to the Company (section 58(4)(c)).
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7.

The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later
of the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any, or the date on which the
revocation instrument was delivered as contemplated in paragraph 6.3 above
(section 58(5)).

8.

If the proxy instrument has been delivered to a Company, as long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice required by the Companies Act or the
Company’s MOI to be delivered by the Company to the shareholder must be
delivered by the Company to the shareholder (section 58(6)(a)), or the proxy or
proxies, if the shareholder has directed the Company to do so in writing and paid
any reasonable fee charged by the Company for doing so (section 58(6)(b)).

9.

A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of the
shareholder without direction, except to the extent that the MOI or proxy instrument provides otherwise (section 58(7)).

10.

If a company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or more persons
named by the Company as a proxy, or supplies a form of proxy instrument:
10.1 the invitation must be sent to every shareholder entitled to notice of the
meeting at which the proxy is intended to be exercised (section 58(8)(a));
10.2 the invitation or form of proxy instrument supplied by the Company must:
10.1.1 bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights established in section 58 of the Companies Act (section 58(8)(b)(i));
10.1.2 contain adequate blank space, immediately preceding the name(s) of
any person(s) named in it, to enable a shareholder to write the name,
and if desired, an alternative name of a proxy chosen by the shareholder
(section 58(8)(b)(ii)); and

GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED • INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

227

10.1.3 provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate whether the appointed proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution(s) to be put
at the meeting, or is to abstain from voting (section 58(8)(b)(iii));
10.3 the Company must not require that the proxy appointment be made irrevocable (section 58(8)(c)); and
10.4 the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the meeting
at which it was intended to be used, subject to paragraph 7 above (section 58(8)(d)).
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